An ever-transforming la	andscape and	audience
-------------------------	--------------	----------

The reflection of production culture on the motivations of cinema attendance in The Netherlands

Student Name: Cléa Barriere Lorber

Student Number: 421652

Supervisor: Erik Hitters

Master Media Studies - Media & Creative Industries
Erasmus School of History, Culture and Communication
Erasmus University Rotterdam

**Master Thesis** 

June 2020

#### AN EVER-TRANSFORMING LANDSCAPE AND AUDIENCE

#### **ABSTRACT**

The cinema industry has known many hardships in its history with multiple fierce competitors forcing it to evolve regularly. In recent years, the cinema industry has once again been disrupted, this time by Video-On-Demand (VOD) platforms that have altered various aspects of the industry's production culture. By providing audience members with unlimited quality movies in their own homes, VOD platforms have become the main source for watching movies. Naturally, that is worrisome for the traditional sequential cinema distribution, which needs to adapt and innovate in order to retain consumers within the theatres. Therefore, it is essential to identify consumers' motivation factors to enhance them further. This study aims at answering the question 'How is the transforming film production culture in The Netherlands reflected in consumers' motivations for going to the movies?'.

In this research, an original framework was conceptualised to understand the notion of production culture. It divided the concept of production culture into five dimensions: financial/state aid, regulations/government policies, cinema landscape, production and distribution landscape, and history and culture of films. This framework proved to be necessary to gather a complete understanding the Dutch film sector and its reflection on consumers' motivations. A qualitative thematic document analysis and thematic analyses of consumer interviews tailor made for this study were conducted. From the data, eight motivations for going to the cinema theatres emerged: experience, the content of the movie, technological appeal, movie genre, people involved, budget, theatre provider, culture in a movie. It also became apparent that some dimensions of production culture are more reflected in consumers motivations than others: cultural history, production and distribution landscape, and cinema landscape were most influential, while financing/state aid was scarcely reflected, and regulations/government policies was hardly echoed. These results suggest that by focusing on the three most important dimensions when innovating, the Dutch cinema industry remains competitive and relevant in the entertainment sector. There is still an added value to going to the cinema theatres, which has a clear potential to remain.

<u>KEYWORDS:</u> Production culture, Consumer motivations, Cinema industry, The Netherlands, VOD platforms.

# **Table of Contents**

# Abstract and keywords

1. Introduction	6
1.1. Premise of the Research	6
1.2. The Research Question	8
1.4. Academic Relevance	8
1.5. Relevance to the industry and society	9
1.6. Chapter Overview	10
2. Theoretical Framework	12
2.1. Contextual Characteristics of the Cinema Industry	12
2.1.1. Competing Needs	13
2.1.2. Technological advancements	16
2.2. The Transforming Production Culture	18
2.2.1. Dimension 1: Financing/State Aid	19
2.2.2. Dimension 2: Regulations/Government policies	21
2.2.3. Dimension 3: Cinema Landscape	22
2.2.4. Dimension 4: Production and Distribution Landscape	24
2.2.5. Dimension 5: History and Culture of Films	25
2.3. Audience's Motivations	28
3. Method	30
3.1. Qualitative Methods	30
3.2. Document Analysis	32
3.3. Interviews	35
3.3.1. Consumer Interviews	37

	3.3.2. Expert Interviews and the COVID-19 Crisis	39
	3.4. Analysis Method	39
4. Re	sults	42
	4.1. Cultural History dimension	42
	4.1.1. Consumer's Experience	42
	4.1.2. Appeal of Dutch Movies	44
	4.1.3. Movie Content	45
	4.2. Production and Distribution Landscape Dimension	47
	4.2.1. Technological Appeal	47
	4.2.2. VOD Competition	49
	4.2.3. Marketing a Film	50
	4.3. Cinema Landscape Dimension	51
	4.3.1. Movie Genre	52
	4.3.2. People Involved in the Making of the Movie	52
	4.3.3. Theatre Providers	54
	4.4. Financial/State Aid	55
	4.4.1. Production Budget	56
	4.4.2. Financing a Movie	57
	4.5. Regulations/Government Policies	58
	4.5.1. Regulations	58
	4.5.2. Government's Involvement	60
5. Co	nclusion/Discussion	62
	5.1. Outcome of the Research	62
	5.2. Implications	64
	4.4.1 Theoretical Implications	64

4.4.1. Societal and Practical Implications	66	
5.3. Limitations	68	
5.4. Future Research	68	
References	70	
Document References for the Document Analysis	83	
Appendix A: Consumer Interviews	84	
Appendix B: Expert Interviews	86	

## 1. Introduction

The following chapter of this master thesis is an introduction to the topic under study. First, the premise of the research is set up (1.1), followed by the statement of the research question (1.3), the academic relevance (1.4), the relevance to the industry and society (1.5), and finally, the chapter overview of the entire study (1.6).

#### 1.1 Premise of the research

In 1895, the Lumière brothers created cinema by showing, for the first time, to a paying audience, the sequence *La sortie de l'usine*. In The Netherlands the first movies also appeared as early as in 1895 (Jess, 2018). Over the past 125 years, the Dutch cinema industry has vastly developed, domestically as well as internationally, exploring various genres such as documentaries, one of the country's specialties (Jess, 2018). The Netherlands has also highly developed its cinema industry by focusing on film festivals. The International Film Festival of Rotterdam (IFFR) is one of the biggest B festivals, which is the second category of most influential film festivals in the world (<a href="https://iffr.com/en/who-we-are">https://iffr.com/en/who-we-are</a>) and the International Documentary Film Festival of Amsterdam (IDFA), one of the top 10 most important documentary festivals in the world (<a href="https://www.idfa.nl/en/info/mission-statement">https://www.idfa.nl/en/info/mission-statement</a>). Both of these festivals focus on providing the public with high-quality films, favour creativity, and overall enable the launch of many careers and films, illustrating that despite the small size of both the country and its cinema industry, The Netherlands is relevant on the international scene.

However, the global rise of the popularity and demand for films did not come without its challenges (Kerrigan, 2017). With many competitors along the years, notably TV, DVDs, VHS tapes, Blue Ray, illegal downloading and in more recent years Video-On-Demand (VOD) platforms, the cinema industry has had to adapt and evolve many times throughout its history to remain on the forefront of the entertainment industry (Rubin, 1981; Nelson & Rutherford, 2010; Hill, 2007). Notably, the creation of big multiplexes is providing the public with a premium experience (PWC, 2019). This is why experience enhancing technologies are being integrated into the production of movies (Hubbard, 2003). For instance, theatres are increasingly being restored, and investments are being made to install IMAX sound systems,

Screen X rooms, 4DX screens, and 4DM seats and 3D technologies (PWC, 2019). Finally with the creation of new loyalty programmes such as the Pathé unlimited cards and the Cineville passes, cinema theatres bet their revenues no longer on ticket purchases to the movies but rather on goods consumed within the theatres such as beverages and snacks, whose prices were ostensibly raised over the years (Smart Pricer, 2018). Furthermore, to compete more forcefully with VOD platforms, traditional theatrical companies are entering the VOD market, with notably the Pathé chain in The Netherlands developing the Pathé Thuis platform (PWC, 2019).

By increasingly investing in domestic content production, VOD platforms present a threat for the traditional domestic theatrical releases (Brooks, 2019). The money gathered from the monthly subscriptions of consumers does not go to the traditional shareholders and makers of the cinema industry but rather stays within the VOD companies themselves, financing their original content (Kannisto, 2019). In other words, VOD platforms are now becoming high competitors on both the exhibition level as well as the production level. Naturally, these changes within the industry bring about the questions of how things are working now in the theatrical sector and how the Dutch traditional theatrical industry is attempting to compete on the domestic level aside from battling on the VOD market front.

In this competitive environment, the movie industry is adopting various content strategies to attract audiences to movies theatres. In this prospect, popular blockbusters (Elberse, 2013) with popular celebrities (Elberse, 2007), genres such as rom-comedy, and action movies (de Best, 2019), as well as movies cultivating various fandoms (Henkel, James, and Croce, 2015) are increasing. Likewise, on the domestic level, governments are increasingly supporting the overall quality of movies by encouraging film adaptations of books, biopics and historical pieces (Liu & Yao, 2019). The appeal for cultural content explains why more and more Dutch productions are made to (supposedly) Dutch consumers with identifiable elements of their culture and history (Schäler, 2003). But how do these domestic productions compete with Hollywood blockbusters, and are domestic productions of sufficient quality to attract people to the cinema theatres?

Therefore, one may wonder how all these changes and the multitude of VOD platforms affect the movie consumers. Understanding the various surviving strategies of the theatrical industry in The Netherlands might help to set a broad groundwork to gather insights on why people attend movie theatres despite competitive forces in the

entertainment sector in the form of VOD platforms (Savage, 2014). In other words, the cinema industry knows an evolution within its production culture. However, it remains unclear how it truly affects the Dutch consumers. One may ask "how are tensions, innovations, and overall transformation within the industry perceived by and integrated into the consumer behaviour of the audience members?".

## 1.2 The research question

As the cinema industry is trying to remain competitive, it is essential for them to understand the motivations of their audiences for going to the movies. Questions such as 'how aligned are the demands and expectations of consumers with what is currently being done within the industry?', 'why do people keep on going to the theatres when they can simply stay in the comfort of their own houses?' and 'what might motivate consumers to go to domestic movies over the popular high budget blockbusters coming from Hollywood?' may be raised. Through this line of questioning, it appears that a research might be worth conducting to gather a better understanding of both the recent evolution of Dutch cinema production culture and the drive for consumers to still go to the cinema theatres combined with their selection process when picking a movie. Therefore, this master's thesis will focus on answering the research question *How is the transforming film production culture in The Netherlands reflected in consumers' motivations for going to the movies?*.

To answer this question, the numerous innovative strategies that make for the adaptive quality of the cinema industry must be analysed. They operate on the five different dimensions of production culture: financial/state aid, regulations/government policies, cinema landscape, production/distribution landscape, and history and culture of films. They must then be compared to the consumer's motivations to draw conclusions.

#### 1.3 Academic relevance

Academically, it is interesting to target The Netherlands, as there is a lack of research on the Dutch cinema industry done in the English language and therefore accessible to the rest of the world. Rather, most studies on film focus on Hollywood or on big major players of the global cinema industry such as France in Europe or India in Asia. Kumb, Kunz, and Siegert (2016) highlighted that most studies regarding the field of cinema target the United States' system, often forgoing other markets entirely.

Furthermore, they state that academic research on the topic of the film industry is usually primarily focused on theatrical releases despite the continuous growth of other release windows such as VOD platforms, home videos, smart TV and mobile devices (Kumb, Kunz, & Siegert, 2016). Other researchers notice that often, previous research has measured the motivations behind consuming movies illegally as opposed to legally (Henkel, James, & Croce, 2015). However, illegal downloading has now largely been replaced with VOD platforms. While the growth of this new viewing technique has been covered, it seldom mentions what the motivations of consumers for still going to the movies are (Behrends & Fischl, 2005; Daidj & Vialle, 2007). Therefore, the following study is filling a gap in the academic understanding of the Dutch cinema industry and the audience's motivations for going to the cinema theatres.

Finally, it can also be argued that some methodological pragmatism is applied in the choice of the European nation to study, as the researcher lives in The Netherlands and has, therefore, an easier access to the population of the country, a matter that proves to be relevant when it comes to the data collection. It also presents the advantage of a more intimate understanding of the culture as well as the ways of thinking and expressing oneself in The Netherlands, which proves to be necessary during the analysis of the data.

## 1.4 Relevance to the industry and society

Studying this industry is important for the Dutch market as many criticise it for having a very Americanised filmography (Segers, 2009). Not only is there a tremendous amount of Hollywood imported movies displayed in Dutch theatres, but also domestic content tends to be highly based on what may be found in Hollywood productions (Segers, 2009). Some attribute this fact to one of the reasons for testing the Disney + platform within the Dutch market before its international release: The Netherlands may be considered as a small United States consumer culture-wise (Roxborough, 2019). The main cinematic similarities between the two markets lie in their appeal for blockbusters (Elberse, 2013), and their production style (Dibbets & van Oort, 2009). However, it is undeniable that some domestic movies in The Netherlands have been successful, henceforth contradicting the suggestions that Dutch movies are not as good or do not have the potential for success that Hollywood movies do. In recent years titles such as 'Gooische Vrouwen', 'Alles is liefde', and 'Penoza: The final chapter' have been tremendously successful in The Netherlands.

Identifying the reasons for these successes may prove to be useful for the Dutch cinema industry as a whole. Indeed, by identifying elements of success and popularity within Dutch movies, a better understanding of the Dutch audience and what they value is gathered.

Understanding the Dutch film industry and its attraction to consumers is of prime importance for business, policy makers and professionals of the cinema industry as well as the Dutch government. Indeed, understanding better the demands and expectations of the Dutch audience for films may allow professionals of the industry to create an interesting and well targeted selection of movies, providing a better source of entertainment. Furthermore, it might shed light on the relevance of the current government investments in the domestic film sector. This may prove to positively impact the film festival industry as well renew the domestic movie industry. As many criticise Dutch movies for their lack of authenticity and overall low quality, improving the Dutch domestic cinema is essential to avoid the threat of an Americanisation of the Dutch culture (Segers, 2009).

## 1.6 Chapter overview of the entire study

It is hard to comprehend to what extent the film industry in The Netherlands is being altered by all the recent transformations of production culture, and how it impacts the audience members. To shed light on this, the research question How is the transforming film production culture in The Netherlands reflected in consumers' motivations for going to the movies? is set. The following study is composed of 5 chapters, namely this introduction (1), a theoretical framework (2), a methodology (3), a result report (4), and finally a conclusion and discussion section (5). In the theoretical framework, an understanding of the contextual characteristics of the cinema industry and the established motivations of consumers is obtained by analysing and discussing previous academic research to establish a framework of research for this study. The methodology chapter explains why a qualitative research method is used in this study and justifies the choices of conducting a thematic analysis of both a document analysis and interviews. The result chapter is a presentation of the various themes identified in the data as part of the five dimensions of production culture. The identified themes are consumer's experience, appeal of Dutch movies, movie content, technological appeal, VOD competition, marketing of a film, movie genre, people involved in the making of a movie, theatre providers, production budget, financing a film, regulations, and finally, government policies. These themes are put into perspective with

regards to the previously exposed academic theory and the divergence or convergences of opinions between the professional and the consumers. Finally, in the conclusion chapter, a concrete answer to the research question is summarised, the implications for theory/academia are considered, the implications of the findings for the cinema industry are discussed, and a reflection on the limitations of the study and directions for future research are given.

# 2. Theoretical framework

This section aims at establishing a theoretical lens through which the research question 'How is the transforming film production culture in The Netherlands reflected in consumers' motivations for going to the movies?' may be understood, provided with meaning and reflected upon. This is achieved by first focusing on the contextual characteristics of the cinema industry (2.1), namely new competing needs (2.1.1) and technological advancement (2.1.2), followed by an analysis of and discussion based on previous research on the transforming production culture (2.2). This discussion then leads to the establishment of a framework of research for this study (2.2.1 to 2.2.5). Finally, this chapter ends on a section dedicated to the audience's motivations for movie attendance as established by previous research (2.3).

## 2.1 Contextual characteristics of the cinema industry

Since the Lumière Brothers in 1895, the concept of cinema has expanded and become a popular entertainment industry, worldwide (Nowell-Smith, 1996). Indeed, while the first films were originally shown in fairs and hence meant for entertainment, movies are now being displayed in official theatres and big multiplexes. Besides the size of the rooms and the length of movies produced, commercial goods accompany the cinema experience. Typically, the consumption of popcorn has entered cinema theatres and has been associated with movie watching (Englander, 2012). Popcorn, along with many other snacks and beverages plays an important role in the theatres' revenues. For this reason, they are often listed among the competing advantages of watching a movie in the theatres (Mazdon, 1999).

Competing for the audience's attention is essential in any form of business, however, this is a specifically hard task in the entertainment industry, in which innovations are often multi-platformed and where the evolution process is visible at every step (Dogruel, 2014). This is especially true of the film industry. Technological advancements and notably the spread of Internet access within most households, have enabled the rise of important competitors for the traditional cinema theatres (Kumb, Kunz, & Siegert, 2016). In the following section, the competition context within the film industry will first be

discussed, before targeting the technological advancements that the cinema industry has to develop to avoid becoming obsolete.

## 2.1.1 Competing needs

Among the most important technological disruptions that have become problematic for the cinema industry, is television. While before people had to obtain their news through radio or journal papers, the invention of cameras allowing for the recording of moving images opened many doors. Television was not only used as a means of information but also as a prime form of entertainment (Chalaby, 2012). As televisions spread rapidly and were soon present in most households, they brought entertainment inside the homes of the audience (Spigel, 1992). This can be considered as a threat to the cinema industry, which not only had to compete with a new means of viewing moving images/films but had to do so against an object present in the living room of nearly every audience member (Belson, 1958). However, television was not only a competitive force to cinema. Caldwell (2005) stated that despite what cinephiles and professionals of the cinema industry would like society to believe, TV often provides great (if not sometimes better) films and moviemakers. Sisto and Zanola (2007) pushed these findings further by pointing out that, in fact, cinema and television tend to be rather complementary in terms of entertainment rather than annihilating each other. They believe that even though cinema and television have to compete with each other for the audience's attention, both of them can survive and prosper in spite of the other. Indeed, the perpetual selling of movie rights to TV is a continuous source of income for the cinema industry (De Lille, 2019). Therefore, the invention of television may be considered as a technological disruption for the cinema industry as it heavily altered, somewhat endangered and pushed it to take some evolutionary measures discussed in the next section of this chapter, to provide the audience with a competitive service from the one they get with their television set in their homes.

Televisions are far from being the only disruptive innovation that endangered cinema. Another important detrimental event was enabled by the rise of the internet: film piracy. The concept of piracy may be defined as content from a producer being either reproduced or utilised without former permission from its owner (Domingo, 1997). Naturally for this to be relevant, said content must be copyrighted, that is legally bound to a producer who owns the majority of the rights on the media text, otherwise called intellectual properties of the

producer (Buskirk, 1992). Intellectual properties "take the form of so-called 'intangibles', such as ideas, inventions, signs, information, and expression" (Yar, 2005, p. 679). Therefore, film piracy includes, but is not limited to, sharing illegally obtained media text, using/reproducing an intellectual property without former approval of its owner or without crediting of the original media text, leaking media text before or shortly after its release date, and illegally downloading or streaming a media text (Remneland Wikhamm & Knights, 2016). While at first film piracy was principally achieved through the production and sale of illegal DVDs, with the rise of the internet and the spread of computers in the households, piracy moved to the cloud (Waterman, Ji, & Rochet, 2007). Byers et. al. (2003) show that the illegal access to movies online shortly after and sometimes even prior to their theatrical release has shown to be detrimental for the cinema industry. Remarkably, most leaks actually came from professionals of this industry (Byers et. al., 2003). This may come as a surprise considering the extent to which the film industry goes to in order to prohibit the illegal consumption of movies (McKenzie, 2016). Surely, the legal measures undertaken have lessened the amount of file-sharing behaviour in Sweden (Svensson & Larsson, 2012). Furthermore, research has discovered that there is a 'film pirate as a criminal' mindset fatigue in the UK, which if it is replaced by a 'film-pirate as an antisocial miscreant' mindset, persuade audiences of the added value of viewing a movie in the theatres and diminishes the downloading rate (Parkes, 2012). These findings are confirmed by Levin, Conway Datoon and Manolis (2007) who highlighted that downloading intent and attitude are highly linked to social norms, most specifically for occasional film pirates and when the risk is low. These conclusions are based upon the belief that film piracy has a financial impact on the film industry, a concept that many studies also disagree with (Bounie, Bourreau, & Waelbroeck, 2006). Danaher et. al. (2012) have proved that the longer the delay between the Hollywood release and the international release of a film is, the more piracy happens, leading to a lesser international box office revenue. Although the revenue gap might be a motivation behind the industry's worldwide coordinated releases, it is not very significant (McKenzie & Walls, 2013). This is a finding that Zhang (2015) built upon arguing that illegal downloading is severe among a population that does not usually attend cinema theatres, hence the existence of illegal downloads does not, in fact, impact the box office revenues despite what the numerous lawsuits the cinema industry has launched suggest. Nonetheless, film piracy is still considered a threat to the film industry and many legal

solutions have been undertaken including protection technologies for movies and internet censorship (Janak, 2011).

As a result of these numerous regulations, a new technological disruption filled in the demand for watching movies at home easily, quickly and cheaply: Video-on-Demand platforms (Yoo & Poe, 2016). Video-On-Demand platforms, more commonly called VOD platforms, exist in two forms, the Subscription-Video-On-Demand (SVOD) platforms such as Netflix, Amazon Prime, and Disney+ that function based on a monthly subscription and the Transactional-Video-On-Demand (TVOD) platforms alike Pathe Thuis, YouTube, and Apple Tv, using a pay per view technique. While SVOD is specifically popular for the legal home film distribution, both types of VOD platforms also represent a reason for concern for the cinema industry worldwide (Savage, 2014). As VOD platforms are an ethical legal way of consuming desired film content at home, they may be considered the source of the decline of the too restrictive TV entertainment (Twenge, Martin, & Spitzberg, 2019). Furthermore, the cinema industry has happily noted that VOD platforms render film piracy nearly obsolete due to quick – and legal – availability of movies (Welter, 2012). With VOD platforms, a movie can be watched instantly after being selected. This service does not come freely, as opposed to film piracy, however, it is fully legal and ethical, while also generating revenue for the cinema industry (Smith, Telang, & Zhang, 2019). Therefore, in recent years VOD has overcome both TV and film piracy to become the first source of home entertainment (Hilderbrand, 2010). In doing so, it also became the main competitor for the traditional cinema theatres (Behrends & Fischl, 2005). However, whether they endanger the cinema industry, or a part of that industry is a polemic discussion. Indeed, Henning-Thurau, et. al. (2007) believe that as VOD platforms allow for movies to be streamed for a price, they are, in fact, expanding the popularity of movies and therefore of cinema as a whole. Certainly, VOD platforms cater the cinema industry with a way to be closer to the audience and to provide them with a cheap means of consuming their product (Daidj & Vialle, 2007). Furthermore, arrangements between production studios and VOD platforms to distribute new movies is a strong way of maximizing the revenues over the traditional sequential release in theatres (Nam, Chang, & Park, 2015). Production studios have learned to be more careful when negotiating the terms of the copyrights' obtention by VOD portals (Re, 2015). However, Zhu (2001) believes that by shortening the value chain process within the cinema industry, VOD platforms may eventually lead to the destruction of this industry. This is an

opinion that Wayne (2018) shares, especially in light of the fact that many VOD platforms that initially started only as movie providers by allowing for the streaming of film produced by the industry's studios, are now becoming producers themselves. In this prospect, Netflix produces numerous 'originals' by using its inside information of consumers' data (Kannisto, 2019). This is the reason why VOD platforms are considered a disruptive innovation for the cinema industry. Not only have these portals forced the traditional theatres to alter their modus operandum in order to keep attracting the audience, which will be developed further in the next part of this chapter, but they are said to be endangering the cinema theatre industry by rendering it obsolete and replacing it with original content that is often highly criticised for its quality (Dreier, 2019). Therefore, the next section will mainly regard the way traditional theatrical distribution is challenged specifically by VOD portals that may be viewed as a new form of movie entertainment distribution/production medium.

#### 2.1.2 Technological advancements

With the domestication and high popularity of television, followed by film piracy and finally with the modern VOD portals, the cinema industry has met challenges brought by many disruptive competitors over the years. As was highlighted earlier, many of these disruptive competitors were the result of technological advances such as the progress made in terms of recording cameras, the invention, domestication and popularity rise of computers and the internet. Some technological advancements in cinema happened due to the motivation of cinephiles to push the limits of their art, whilst other advancements of the field came out of necessity. For instance, Vitaly (2017) defends that the developments of technologies enabling talking movies, otherwise known as movie tapes capable of recording sound, is part of what made Cinema a true art. In a similar manner, colour was later added to enrich the artistic value of cinema and deepen the range of its possibilities (Pardo, 2013). However, as a result of new entrants such as TV, the cinema industry was forced to make cameras for moviemaking that were compatible with television sets (Vlahos et. al., 1973). This resulted in tv programmes buying some rights over movies, which then enabled further funding for producing new movies and made for an important part of the programming of tv channels (Behlil, 2010). Therefore, cinema and television are interdependent and at the same time not interchangeable.

On a distribution level, the cinema industry also had to innovate to remain competitive. This was achieved through the creation of big multiplexes, in which the audience could enjoy a movie but also consume and share some popcorn, various snacks and beverages with friends (Mazdon, 1999). Furthermore, in an effort to multiply revenues for the cinema industry and annihilate further the competition from television, VHS tapes, DVDs, and Blue Rays were created (McGowan, 2018). Indeed, once the audience members possessed a medium allowing them to watch moving images at home, letting them own and purchase movies long gone from the theatres appeared as a fruitful opportunity (Young, Gong, & van der Stede, 2010). This allowed further financing for the cinema industry that were reinvested in the making of new films and the improvement of the overall quality of movies (Young, Gong, & van der Stede, 2010). Naturally, a side effect of this lied in the fact that audience members held even more entertainment means in the comfort of their own home (McGowan, 2018). Furthermore, Nelson & Rutherford (2010) highlight that if a movie is released too quickly on DVD, it might lead to an important loss on the box office revenues. These elements are taken into account by the cinema industry to maximise its revenues when it comes to distributing movies around the world (Burgess & Evans, 2005).

As mentioned earlier, the theatre industry also had to compete later with the free movies issued from illegal downloads by investing in new technologies. This is why the popularisation and global spread of 3D technologies, including the screens, projectors, and glasses were operated (Elsaesser, 2013). The goal was to bring back to the theatres people who were interested in a new form of entertainment enhancing the movie watching experience (Ellis & Conaway, 2015).

With the more recent rise of VOD platforms, the cinema industry is facing its strongest competitor yet. Nonetheless, it may be argued that the movie theatre industry may, in fact, also benefit from all the new digital technologies. Yang, Anderson, and Gordon (2018) point to the growth of data on the audience, which can be used to the advantage of movie theatres with regards to their scheduling, may it be content-wise or timing-wise. Weinberg et. al. (2020) advise to enhance the audience's experience within theatres in order to keep attracting said audience. This is the reason why using technological improvements has led to new forms of cinema experience. For instance, by transforming the traditional screens into more curved and surrounding ones (screen X), or by altering the traditional seats into chairs moving along with the story (motion seats), theatres enable the viewer to be more

immersed in the movie and therefore provide them with a greater experience than the one they would receive from a VOD platform (Efrat et. al., 2016). Other examples are 4DX movies, in which the viewer gets a similar experience to 3D movies but with the addition of the motion seats, wind, and scent, as a make-belief of entering the story entirely.

In the quest to stay competitive, improving the content of movies is also essential. In this respect, more and more movies are based on successful books (Liu & Yao, 2019). This present the advantage of attracting to the movie the fanbase of the book in addition to the regular movie visitors, but it is also a higher risk as the fanbase may be ruthless in its reviews of the film (Haase, 2015). Another interesting finding with regards to the improvement of the content quality of movies lies in the fact that investors are more likely to finance movies with a potential for sequels in the belief of a higher return on the investment (Gong, van der Stede, & young, 2011). This technique has shown to be efficient even if sequels tend to do less good than their parent movie (Dhar, Sun, & Weinberg, 2012). Overall, it may be argued that investors are increasingly seeking a good and popular story for their next movie.

## 2.2 The transforming production culture

Before attempting to answer the research question we need a clear understanding of what is meant by film production culture and how it may affect the success of movies. The concept of production culture itself is seldom mentioned and always defined differently. Only four notable studies have been identified treating of this concept, namely Caldwell (2008)'s, Mayer, Banks, and Caldwell (2009)'s, Lobato (2009)'s and Szczepanik and Vonderau (2013)'s. The following study heavily relies on their initial analysis of production culture. Caldwell (2008) one of the precursors of this field regards production culture in terms of the people that are responsible for the making of movies. He believes that not only big personas such as producers, directors or stars have a strong impact on the production of a movie but also smaller-scale employees such as photographers, writers, and make-up artists.

Szczepanik and Vonderau (2013) agree with this analysis and go further by stating that each individual involved in the making of a movie brings their own culture and influence on the movie. This is something important to consider in light of the fact that cinema is both a creative art and a form of business (Caldwell, 2008). As increasingly diverse groups of people are making movies, the topics targeted are also evolving and more and more social

issues appear on screen (Mayer, Banks, & Caldwell, 2009). In other words, culture is essential in the making of a movie (Szczepanik & Vonderau, 2013). This shows to be an advantage however when looking for financing (Lobato, 2009). Financing is an essential step to make movies as they are expensive and more often than not a gamble on the question of their rentability. Lobato (2009) found that as governments try to promote culture in their country, they are often more likely to help financing a movie targeting a cultural issue. However, financing may also be found elsewhere and notably on the revenues obtained from previous lucrative movies, hence a successful distribution and marketing play an important role in production culture (Caldwell, 2008). This is why the distribution sector has had to move beyond the simple domestic theatrical release in order for productions to become more international (Lobato, 2009). The internationalisation of the production culture is achieved by the means of exportation of movies both in terms of distribution but also on a production level (Mayer, Banks, & Caldwell, 2009). Indeed, in recent years, production has been shifting away from studios and has been occurring more and more in a real-life context on domestic and international levels (Mayer, Banks, & Caldwell, 2009). This internationalisation of the production culture has to be done with respect to international social differences (Lobato, 2009). However, they offer a great opportunity of learning from other countries' own production culture, which can be inspiring (Szczepanik & Vonderau, 2013). Finally, it is important to note that governments play a role in production culture as politics influence how and why things are made the way they are (Szczepanik & Vonderau, 2013).

After carefully reading, reviewing and combining from these four ground-breaking texts on production culture, and original framework was created. To understand production culture, it needs to be analysed and conceptualised in terms of the five dimensions that constitute its framework namely: (1) financing/state aid, (2) regulations/government policies, (3) cinema landscape, (4) production and distribution landscape, and (5) history and culture of films. These five dimensions are explained and defined below.

#### 2.2.1 Financing/Sate aid

The first dimension when thinking about film production culture concerns the financing of films. As funding is unavoidable in order to make a movie, it is important to consider where the money comes from and what the conditions for receiving a fund are. Movies are

always expensive to produce and rarely cost less than a few million dollars with records going up to 378.5 million dollars (Evans, 2019; Honthaner, 2010). This is the reason why there are many ways of financing a movie such as official funding companies and associations (Olchawska, 2017). These funds often have the sole purpose of enabling the creation of movies, which they view as an investment, hence they are interested in funding movies with big box-office potential such as the ones produced in Bollywood (Pillania, 2008). For instance, one might be able to apply for a grant depending on the type of movie (feature film grants, short film grants, documentaries grants, etc), the geographical region the movie is dealing with (grants for Asia, grants for African filmmakers, etc), or the particularity of the film marker (grants for women, grants for upcoming filmmakers, etc) among many others (Newman-Baudais, 2011). Naturally, funding seldom comes without conditions. Generally, funds require a financial participation taken from the revenues of the movie supported (Brennan, & Tamarowski, 2000). However, sometimes investors may request certain changes regarding the script, casting, shooting locations, or any other aspect of the movie (Joshi, & Hanssens, 2009). In other words, the original project of a movie is always different from the end product, which may come as a challenge for artists who see their artistic vision forcibly altered.

Another popular funding source for a film is governments or state aid (Coles, 2010; Murschetz, Teichmann, & Karmasin, 2018). Governments along with crowdfunding, private investors and funding associations represent the main solution for producing a movie (Desai, Loeb, & Veblen, 2002; Derin, 2010). These parties are interested in investing in movies for various purposes, namely economic productivity as well as celebrating culture and educating the country's population (Government of The Netherlands, 2018). These government/state funds often come with limitations even stricter than the ones asked by funding companies and associations such as the obligation to use domestic labour for the making of the movie, and/or even to convey certain values dear to the state portrayed in the movie (Coles, 2010).

Certainly, all these regulations accompanying financing may raise the question of the end quality of a movie. Garcia-del-Barrio and Zarco (2017), have shown that the content of a movie undoubtedly affects its box-office revenue and overall success. However, they conclude their study by highlighting the need for further research into the question of whether a higher budget make for a better-quality movie with higher revenues. Based on

Ravid (1999)'s findings, it is safe to assume that investments related to big budgets are often, although not systematically, a sign of higher revenues on the box office. This is due to the fact that a high budget allows for big actors, high quality special effects, and famous music to be employed in the making of the movie, ensuring a theoretical higher quality and rendering it more popular (Ibnal Asad, Ahmed, & Rahman, 2012).

Focusing on which institutions participate to the financing of movies in The Netherlands and what their return policies are, is of interest to understand production culture in The Netherlands and how it might impact the Dutch population. This is in agreement with the analysis of Lobato (2009) stipulating that financing/state aid are an essential dimension of production culture that must be studied.

## 2.2.2 Regulations/Government policies

It is important to note that regardless of whether a government does or does not fund a project, it still has an impact through official regulations and policies (Szczepanik & Vonderau, 2013). This is supported by Hift (1994), who points out that governments cannot be ignored in their influence on production culture. Indeed, governments have historically used movies in order to achieve their own means. In that respect, one might think back to Nazi Germany and the multiple propaganda movies that were created during the Nazi regime to convey the Nazi ideology through to the population (Hoberman, 2019). For instance, the documentary Triumph of the Will by Leni Riefenstahl is still, to this day, considered as one of the most influential documentaries of all times for the role it played in spreading the Nazi ideology and make it appeal first to the German Nation and later to other invaded European populations as well (Kelman, 2003). This illustrates that a government might influence either the topic of the movie or the values presented to a society (Hift, 1994).

Furthermore, despite using films as a tool to achieve their own means, governments also have a way of impacting movies through censorship or simply regulations. Censorship is common throughout the history of film (Martinez, 1998). Censorship, or the action of excluding parts or the entirety of a text from being distributed is based on criteria such as the depiction of sexual, violent, and/or psychologically challenging content as well as the presence of values, and/or ideologies different from the ones of the country the movie is trying to be distributed in (Skinner, 1955). An example of this may be the censorship of the

movie *Titanic* in Afghanistan during the Taliban regime (Baily, 2004). Indeed, while the Taliban regime forbade the movie's official distribution in the country for religious reasons, the movie was illegally distributed and became the biggest hit in the country's history, with merchandise, haircuts, and events organised around *Titanic* (Baily, 2004). This example shows the power of movies on a population that sometimes even surpasses a government ban. To this day, censorship and government control are still being used everywhere in the world. The most common example of this is the rating system that is unique and in accordance with each country's own values and culture (Thrasher et. al., 2014). This explains why the United States, which is a country with important religious values, has strict age regulations based on violent, offensive and sexual content displayed in films, while the same criteria give way to less strict regulations in Scandinavian countries (Sundholm, 2012).

Naturally, The Netherlands also presents a form of government influence impacting the film production culture through its key role in Kijkwijzer, the Dutch regulation system for audio-visual content as well as various investments, which one might want to investigate in order to obtain a better understanding of how the Dutch government attempts to manage, educate, bring together and/or cultivate the country's population. Therefore, the importance of government regulations/policies for the making of a movie cannot be denied and should henceforth be added to the list of criteria giving meaning to the film production culture concept.

## 2.2.3 Cinema landscape

Another important aspect of production culture within a country is the cinema landscape with the market characteristics of the consumption of film. In this regard, the European Audiovisual Observatory collects data on film attendance in all European countries as well as the reception of European movies abroad annually, which shows current trends as well as clear differences between countries (<a href="https://www.obs.coe.int/en/web/observatoire/">https://www.obs.coe.int/en/web/observatoire/</a>). Thanks to these results, the European cinema industry is able to adjust its products and become more and more successful. As much as cinephiles might like to pretend that cinema is only an art, it also is a form of business that must remain prosperous to not become obsolete. Hence there is a need for a proper analysis of both the local market as well as the international one. For instance, the study of genre preference in the UK enables Redfern (2012) to identify the type of movies

that is most likely to appeal to any target group within the audience. This information may be very handy when it is time to advertise a movie to the right target group in order to ensure the highest success at the box office.

The box office may also be influenced by other elements such as big names attached to the making of a movie (Elberse, 2007). This is the reason why certain actors and actresses may be considered as stars due their popularity among the audience members (Elberse, 2007). Naturally this is also true of some directors although to a lesser extent (De Vany, & Walls, 1999). Naremore (1999) points out that authorship is also an essential aspect of the cinema landscape as it both defines and influences movies. Similarly, it was found that not only do stars influence a movie perceived quality, but they also influence the audience's attendance (Elberse, 2007). However, academics and experts of the field have long argued over this strength of the influence of stars over the box office (Basuroy, Chatterjee, & Ravid, 2003). Indeed, Basuroy, Chatterjee, and Ravid (2003) argue that critics have a far more important role on the box office revenue than do stars. De Vani and Walls (1999) tend to agree that no amount of star power may save a bad movie. Overall, Desai and Basuroy (2005) indicate that while star power may sometimes show to have a positive influence on the box office, they may also lead to harsher critics. In other words, using starts in a movie is a gamble that the cinema industry often takes all around the world (Elberse, 2013).

Another aspect of interest in this dimension lies in the ownership of cinema and the diversity of providers. For instance, one might notice that in Japan nearly all movies are provided by Cineplex, Toho, Aeon, and Movix. This relatively wide concentration of providers enables a broader diversity of the content available to the audience, as each theatre focuses on its own particular genre specialty (Coates, 2018). This enables to reach a very broad range of consumers within the country, making Japan a big consumer of movies in theatres (statista, 2019). This market structure context is a form of monopolistic competition, that is a context in which there are numerous firms providing a similar product, in this case, theatres providing films, yet each show for an original different text as each cinema brand focuses on its own genre (Küng, 2017). However, Japan is an outstanding case. Often, the rivalry that comes from the multiplicity of theatres put a halt to the diversity of the content shown in a country to instead display the same movies in all cinema theatre chains (Küng, 2017). An example of such context may be found in Belgium where Kinepolis, UGC, Imagix, Pathé, and Quai 10, share the majority of the screen display across

both the Walloon and the Flemish regions. As Paris (2015) points out, these five theatre providers are indeed in a perfect competition market structure context, because all of them show more or less the same selection of movies and provide similar services from one another. Certainly, people have their favourite cinema with memberships and habits they favour, hence the need to have a good understanding of a country's movie providers to negotiate the right contracts (Ebbers, & Wijnberg, 2009).

In light of these results, it is important to understand how The Netherlands, a far smaller country, handles its own cinema landscape. This cinema landscape, that is genre preferences, attendance statistics, ownership and main key figures of its industry, must be studied in terms of both local and international target market as well as the market structure that the country has opted for.

#### 2.2.4 Production and distribution landscape

Once an overall understanding of a country's demands, preferences and overall cinema landscape is established, one might be interested in the production and distribution system of a country. Certainly, in order for a movie to exist and be seen, it must first be produced and then distributed. Often, these two processes are separated, hence why there are distribution companies and production studios. However, there is not one single model to create a movie. For instance, the United States is known for having nearly all of its production and distribution landscape located at the same place: Hollywood (Schatz, 2004). There, one can find the world's biggest cinema studios as well as many in-residence famous actors. This presents the advantage of gathering in the same place all forms of talents, creativity, and innovative geniuses that the cinema industry requires to prosper (Lampel. 2011). The success of Hollywood movies relies on its studio system, which gathers both money, innovations, and expertise in order to create the most influential and profitable branch of cinema in the world (Regev, 2016).

However, over the past few years, it can be noticed that Hollywood has met a strong opponent in the form of Netflix, a new entrant in the film production and distribution industry (Murphy, 2019). While previously Netflix was a streaming platform on which movies were re-distributed, it has, for a few years, started investing in production too, which are highly recognised and rewarded. For instance, one might think about the few theatrical releases that Netflix has launched, notably with the movie *The King*, to be eligible

for big awards recognitions such as the Oscars (Rubin, 2019). Furthermore, Netflix applies a policy of localisation (Dias & Navarro, 2018), which has the effect that movies and tv shows are being produced domestically for a domestic public, resulting in a higher probability of success of the media text (Schäler, 2003). Indeed, the location a movie takes place in was found to have an important impact on the consumer reception of the film and their motivation for seeing it (Goldsmith, & O'Regan, 2005). A location has the potential to bring in a lot of money from domestic audiences as well as render a movie cult for the landscape it was turned in, as it did for the Lord of the Rings trilogy, for instance (Jewell, & McKinnon, 2010). Certainly, domestic products, by their usage of the country's language, landscape and culture present the advantage of bringing reality and the possibility for the audience to truly identify with the media text, resulting in more appreciation from the public (Akinola, 2019). For instance, Akinola (2019) discovered that the film industry in Nigeria gained popularity and validity within its country due to the deeply national context being portrayed in domestic movies. This type of findings suggests that the new localisation politics of Netflix may be very successful and prosperous both for the company and for the countries' creative industries that are targeted by this business strategy, to the detriments of the traditional big institution such as Hollywood. In other words, this suggests that movies are increasingly being watched at home by consumers rather than in cinema theatres, which leads to lesser box office revenues (Behrends & Fischl, 2005). Unfortunately for the traditional film industry, this important loss of revenues is not recovered from distributing movies to external VOD platforms due to a very small negotiation margin, as VOD platforms are now capable of creating their own popular content (De Lille, 2019).

Therefore, if an institution as important as Hollywood is endangered by the rise of the Netflix productions and VOD platforms as a whole, one may only wonder what it is like for a smaller film production industry such as the one of The Netherlands. It is interesting to look at what measures are undertaken to remain competitive. These types of information are not only important for moviemakers to gather but also for the theatre and film distribution industries that need to adequately programme and market a movie (De Lille, 2019).

## 2.2.5 History and culture of films

Finally, it has often been defended that the history of a country and therefore its culture has a strong influence on said country's cinema (Diawara, 1992). Therefore, the last

dimension of film production culture should not be overlooked, even if it is the hardest one to measure. Indeed, as one's identity is strongly built on one's culture and history (Edensor, 2002), it is important to know what that culture is and how it has evolved. Stets and Burke (2000) state that people understand society based on elements that they identify and attempt to belong to in an effort to build their social self. Certainly, understanding how people categorise in society, what motivates them in this categorisation process, to discover how the self is built, in other words how the social identity is built, may allow for a broader understanding of society as a whole (Stets & Burke, 2000). It is believed that one thing that ties a society together is its culture, which is based on a shared history and values of the group (Castoriadis, 1997). Therefore, in order to understand one's identity and overall a country's culture, one must look at their history. In this prospect, looking at the history of and through movies in the given country might help. Indeed, movies are both a reflection of the time it was made in and a reflection of the society that made them (Hughes-Warrington, 2006). In other words, to shed some light on a country's identity, one may look at the culture that transpires through its films. For instance, Mazdon's (2007) study demonstrates that the Cannes Festival has, through the years, enabled the construction of the French nation through its universalist cinema, which vouches for the initial success of the festival and domestic cinema in France. In other words, the nation above all culture portrayed in French movies has made the success of domestic cinema in the country, which is reflected in the fame of the Cannes Festival (Mazdon, 2007). Looking back on the universalist culture of France, one must consider the Colonial time and how cinema was used as a means of education for the autochthone populations to be taught about the 'dominant culture' and what they had to abide by (Salhi, 2008). The culture of the Nation before religious, ethnic or even racial identities displayed then, both in cinema and among the colons, can still be found in modern-day France and its cinema (Brozgal, 2019). Indeed, while casting has become more diverse, questions of ethnicities and races are still not touched upon in cinema in an effort to accompany the government's political correctness or political silence on such matters (Brozgal, 2019).

Another example of the building of an identity through movies lies in how Hollywood spent years portraying cowboys in Westerns as heroes and founders of the nation, while the Native-Americans were considered as savages who should be eliminated (Philip, 2001). This depiction illustrated the past values of the first American colons but also enabled to spread

the hero identity among American consumers (Philip, 2001). To this day, this societal conflict opposing the Native Americans to the rest of the population is still alight in the United States, partly due to the popularity of Westerns (Leuthold, 1995). Another important impact that this hero identity and the superiority culture has had in the United States and its cinema is what Fasta and Arsi (2015) note as a tendency to present the United States as king of the world and the Americans as gods. It is undeniable that most movies depicting an alien specie's arrival on earth, a virus with only a few survivors, or any form of catastrophe or event that might have a worldwide impact always takes place in the United States and results in the 'Americans' saving the day and the rest of Humanity (Murray, 1970). This contributes to the popularity of these movies in the United States. Indeed, when producing domestic movies aimed at a domestic audience, the resonance of the cultural and historical contexts makes for a more attractive movie due to the nationalistic feelings awakened consciously or unconsciously by the visuals and storyline (Rajadhyaksha, 2003).

This leads to a further discussion regarding the impact of culture and history on genre preference in a country. Certainly, while the content of a movie may influence an audience, it may also indicate the preferences of said audience. Furthermore, Redfern (2012) identified that the genre of a movie may also strongly indicate what portion of a country's audience might be interested in watching a given movie. Indeed, Fu (2012) has shown that there are clear preferences for movie genre in various countries, which are related to their cultural identity and history. An example of this lies in the love of the anime genre in Japan (Thomas, 2012). Indeed, Thomas (2012) has shown that a great part of the original success of both the anime and manga genres in Japan lies upon the fact that the stories and designs are highly based upon the Japanese culture, ethnography, history and religion. Miyao (2002) goes further in his analysis by demonstrating that animation always occupied an important place in the Japanese cinema history, but that the second World War and the atomic disaster ensued by the bombs in 1945 was a turning point that brought the Japanese culture both fear of and optimism for technology. In other words, anime may be view as a form of illustration of the Japanese history and the country's relationship with technology, as well as a means of escaping it (Schroy, et. al., 2016).

Therefore, it appears that the production culture of a country can hardly be fully understood without considering the impact of the cultural history of said country on the making and reception of movies in accordance with the findings of Mayer, Banks, and

Caldwell (2009). The few examples reported in this section illustrate the role that domestic cinema plays in the overall culture of a country due to the national identity displayed in its movies. It might bring one to wonder what values, identities, and overall culture are being transferred to the Dutch public through Dutch movies.

#### 2.3 Audience's motivations

Before diving deeper into this study and researching how the Dutch film production culture is reflected in the motivations of the audience members for going to the movies, one must look closer at previous research. The drive pushing people to go to the theatres is a subject that has long been studied by academics and experts of the industry alike as understanding this phenomenon allows for a better exploitation of it and eventually higher box office revenues. Firstly, one may wonder what motivates people to consume movies regardless of the platform, place or condition. Traditionally, it was assumed that people purely consume movies for hedonic reasons, that is, for enjoyment and pleasure. However, Oliver and Raney (2011) highlight that a strong eudemonic motive also exists. In other words, people research meaningfulness when they watch movies, reasons why a genre such as drama is among the most popular ones (Oliver and Raney, 2011). This is a finding that supports Austin (1985)'s original quantitative analysis of the motivations for attending movies. He identified a total of twelve motivations, namely cinema is an enjoyable/pleasant activity, a pass time, a social activity, an escape/get away/forget, a source of arousal/excitement, a source for learning and information, a mean for positive mood enhancement, a communication resources, a way to learn about one's self, a manner of relieving loneliness, a source of relaxation, and finally a mean of obtaining behavioural resources.

Naturally, as previously expressed, the cinema industry has changed over the years and the means of distributing movies have multiplied. Along with this multiplication of platforms came additional motivations related to each platform. For instance, Henkel, James, and Croce (2015) identified that the desire to watch movies over and over as well as a lack of guilt and a notion of impatience are often the motive for people to consume movies illegally by either downloading or streaming illegally. This seems to only highlight further the social aspect of consuming movies legally (Henkel, James, and Croce, 2015). Furthermore, in an era when movies are available at home for an affordable price or even

for free, going to the cinema has become an activity often motivated by a notion of fandom due to the more immersive and rewarding experience that this medium allows for (Henkel, James, and Croce, 2015). Indeed, the audience members feel more strongly about movies viewed in the theatres due to the emotional aesthetics (Fröber & Thomaschke, 2019). This is especially true when compared to the experience of watching a movie on VOD platforms (Mikos, 2016). These new entrants provide the audience members with a freedom of scheduling and of movement as well as equipment that are strong incentives for consumption (Mikos, 2016).

All research established on motivations for consuming movies regardless of the medium used agree on the fact that different groups tend to have different motivations from one another. For instance, frequent viewers may feel more strongly that going to the movie is an enjoyable activity than less frequent viewers (Austin, 1985). This variance in motivations may be applicable to all types of groups such as age, gender, nationalities, social class, etc.

# 3. Methods

The following chapter of this master thesis sets and establishes a method to answer the research question at hand: 'How is the transforming film production culture in The Netherlands reflected in consumers' motivations for going to the movies?'. It will first discuss the benefits of a qualitative method for this research (3.1), followed by the specifics of the first chosen technique, namely the document analysis (3.2). It will then move on to defending the choice of conducting interviews (3.3), which will be achieved by first considering the consumer interviews (3.3.1), and then the forced alteration to the original plan of conducting expert interviews due to the COVID-19 crisis (3.3.2). Finally, the last part of this chapter will focus on the method used to analyse the data once it is obtained (3.4).

#### 3.1 Qualitative Methods

The research topic of this study is a long-time interest of the researcher who is a passionate fan of cinema. This specific topic was selected to acquire knowledge on an industry that she would like to work into after her studies. Once the subjected chosen, came the question of how to research it. Previous research, both academic and none academic were initially considered to gather an understanding of not only the topic but also of where limitations lied in the already existing frameworks (Gravetter & Forzano, 2017). The establishment of a theoretical framework enabled to both complete and create an original framework to base the research on (Gravetter & Forzano, 2017).

The study targets a subject seldomly covered in academia. However, when it is, qualitative methods were usually used as a research technique (Caldwell, 2008; Mayer, Banks, & Caldwell, 2009; Szczepanik, & Vonderau, 2013; Loboto, 2009). Namely, interviews, document analysis, and focus groups among the most noteworthy methods were primarily used (Caldwell, 2008; Mayer, Banks, & Caldwell, 2009).

In line with these findings, it was decided to also opt for a qualitative research method in this study. In addition to adding to previously established findings, a qualitative method presented various opportunities for this research. Qualitative research is the optimal method to highlight and draw meaningful relationships in the data (Kvale, 1996). Brennen (2017) goes further by stating that as opposed to quantitative research method,

qualitative approaches may be defined as the actions of "using language to understand concepts based on people's experiences, it attempts to create a sense of large realm of human relationships" (Brennen, 2017, p. 4). In other words, the qualitative research method is based on the concept that reality is a social construct, which ties must be studied and analysed in order to make sense of the world. This method enables to report the subjects' experiences with, and understandings of the situation studied, provide explanations on the phenomenon of interest, and draw a comprehension of the processes and structure-agency interplay (Brown, 2010). Furthermore, this research method allows for flexibility and potential evolution in the research process and may diminish the power distance between the researcher and the participants, which leads to more valuable and richer data collection that might give way to surprising results (Brown, 2010). Overall, results obtained through qualitative methods of analysis are reliable and reflexive despite the usually smaller size of the samples considered (Brown, 2010).

Therefore, it can be argued that the essence of the research question of this study itself called for a qualitative approach. Indeed, a major part of answering this question relied on identifying what the Dutch cinema production culture is like and how it is currently transforming (Boeije, 2010). Based on the careful reading of pioneers' work on production culture, five dimensions were deductively identified as composing this concept. Elements of each of these five dimensions of production culture had to be identified for the case study of The Netherlands for the purpose of this research. Namely, (1) financing/state aid; (2) regulations/government policies; (3) cinema landscape, which included genre, attendance, provider, ownership, directors, actors, writers, main key ppl/figures, etc.; (4) production and distribution landscape, a category composed of companies in charge of the moviemaking process, numbers of film produced, technological disruptions, VOD disruptions through new entrants on the film market; and (5) history and culture of films, which focused on what makes a movie essentially Dutch and the role that this plays in attendance or more simply put why audience go to the movies. Once these elements were identified they had to be given meaning by identifying the values they held. Recurrent themes appeared, enabling the understanding of the cinema production culture in The Netherlands. Finally, in order to cover the last part of the research question, one had to look closer to the consumers of movies in The Netherlands. Therefore, a qualitative approach was undeniably the ideal method to go in-depth in the understanding of the perception of the transforming Dutch

film industry by its consumers. Qualitative approaches enabled one to draw meaning from people's relationships (Kvale, 1996), therefore, this research method allowed one to reveal what meaning consumers give to certain values, types, and elements of a movie. By identifying recurrent themes among the data and the Dutch people, a better understanding of the developing Dutch cinema production culture and the motivations of consumers' cinema attendance was obtained.

The qualitative research occurred in two sequences. First, a document analysis focused on the first part of the research question while the second part was covered by a set of interviews. These two sequences were then also put in perspective with data from older research. Each of these techniques from this triangulation method, that is, multiple methods used to study the same phenomenon (Bowen, 2009), is explained and defended in the following sections.

#### 3.2 Document analysis

The first part of this study is a document analysis shedding light on the production culture in The Netherlands and the transformations it is going through. For this, each of the five dimensions of production culture was considered for the case of The Netherlands. A thematic analysis (which will be explained further in the fourth section of this chapter) was conducted on various documents on the Dutch film industry so as to understand the technological transformations, the relationship to the Dutch government, and the trends and specificities of the Dutch cinema industry. Various types of official documents such as conference reports, press releases, policy documents from industry sources such as FilmFund, government reports, and other various public records were considered. A document analysis was optimal to set the premise of this study as it enables the researcher to "elicit meaning, gain understanding, and develop empirical knowledge" (Bowen, 2009, p. 27). It was, furthermore, an interesting research technique when conducting deductive research, such as this one set in the theory of the five dimensions of production culture (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

With regard to the sampling technique, a theory-based sample was used, meaning that the sample of documents selected was set in the theory of the five dimensions of production culture (Flick, 2011). Only documents related to the five dimensions were considered in order to define, understand, and establish the concept of film production

culture in The Netherlands. Naturally, this also ensured that the sample was representative as each dimension was solely focused on in the document analysis (Flick, 2011). The document analysis was enabled by the research of media text online with the use of keywords such as 'Dutch film production industry', 'Funding a film in The Netherlands' and 'Dutch cinema', as well as numerous variants of these key phrases in the Dutch language. Criteria of selection for a text were their date (as the research dealt with the recent transformation of film production culture, only recent texts were of interest for this study), their theme (only texts mentioning the film production culture and its transformation in The Netherlands were considered – texts mentioning Europe as a whole were discarded as Europe is composed of many nations each with their own culture and own cinema, making a generalisation of European cinema if not impossible was in any case not accurate to this study (Bergfelder, 2005)-), and their author (mostly official and recognised sources were being used in this document analysis, however a small part of popular culture were also be taken into consideration by looking at important blogs and papers). The complete list of the selected sources may be found below (see table 3.1).

Document	Title	Organisation	Date	Pages	Why this selection?
1	Film facts & figures of The Netherlands	NL Film Fonds	May 2019	31	This source shows to be essential to gather a complete understanding of the modern trends and numbers within the Dutch cinema industry. It provided information on every one of the five dimensions.
2	New Cinema Conference on the future of cinema report	Film Research Netherlands	October 2019	32	This source allowed the researcher to understand how professionals of the industry perceive the current situation and how they visualise the future of cinema. It provided information on every one of the five dimensions except the second one government regulations / state aid.
3	Cinema what's new?	PWC	2018	Web page, 896 words	This source revealed numbers and trends from the Dutch cinema industry for the year 2018 as well as predictions for the up-coming years. It shed light on the first, the third, and the fourth dimensions of this research.
4	Film Incentive	NL Film Fonds	2020	Web page, 768 words	This source enabled to gather a good understanding of the criteria of selection for financing a movie in one of the most popular funds of The Netherlands. It provided information on the first dimension.

5	Film in de Uitgangspunten Cultuurbeleid 2021-2024	NL Film Fonds	June 11, 2019	Web page, 669 words	This source enabled to understand the role the government plays in the cinema industry in The Netherlands from a source directly related to this institution. It shed light on the first, the second and the fourth dimensions.
6	Minister komt tegemoet aan wensen filmmakers	De Film Krant	June 19, 2019	Web page, 467 words	This source enabled to gather information about the government's involvement within the Dutch cinema industry from a source that would be unbiased because not related to this institution. It shed light on the first, the second, the fourth and the fifth dimensions.

Table 3.1. List of selected documents for the document analysis

#### 3.3 Interviews

To complete the findings from the document analysis and measure the second part of the research question of this study regarding the motivation of consumers for going to the movies, one needed to get close to the consumers themselves. This is the reason why interviews were an optimal research technique to establish a conversation with consumers on the topic of cinema and the consumption habits.

Indeed, interviews have shown to be a good means for getting close to the population one attempts to study as they provide in-depth and detailed perspectives of the interviewee on the phenomenon under study (Brounéus, 2011). This is especially the case when the interviews take place in the format of a guided conversation as opposed to a structured interview (Brennen, 2017). Henceforth, semi-structured interviews have been conducted for this research. This method was used over unstructured interviews to ensure that the results obtained were reproduceable, reliable and somewhat generalisable (Gerace

& Smith, 1985). Indeed, while the in-depth information obtained from an interviewee are valuable insights, they might not be representative of the overall population. Therefore, multiplying the results and interviewing various people in similar manners, with an identical set of general questions while letting some free space for a natural and free conversation with adapted to the situation follow-up question, was essential for the results of this study (Gerace & Smith, 1985).

Certain elements have to be taken into account to ensure that the interviewing process was done efficiently, ethically, and accurately. Roulston, de Marrais, and Lewis (2003) insist on the importance of the right and proper phrasing of interview questions to avoid influencing, confusing, and/or annoying the interviewee. The formulation of the question list was essential even when aiming for a conversation with the interviewee more than for an interrogation. Therefore, probes were used for the interviewer to not put herself in a difficult situation that might jeopardise the whole interview (Roulston, de Marrais, and Lewis, 2003). On an ethical level, all interviews were agreed upon between the two parties and interviewees were guaranteed of their anonymity in the final project, they could refuse to answer questions, stop the interview at any point, and ask for any clarification they might have needed (Brennen, 2017). Furthermore, interviewees were aware of and agreed to being recorded during the conversation. This was done in order to both to put the interviewees at ease with the researcher but also to ensure that no harm would be done to neither the interviewees as people nor to the research itself by jeopardising it with unethical matters. In chronological order, the document analysis was first conducted so as to set the right basis for the research by drawing a deep understanding of the five dimensions of the film production culture in The Netherlands and its contemporary transformation. Based on these findings two interview templates were created: one aimed at experts of the film industry and one for the avid consumers of movies in The Netherlands. However, due to the COVID-19 crisis this research method had to be altered significantly as will be expressed in the later sub-section of this segment.

On a format matter, it is important to highlight how the COVID-19 virus has affected this research. Indeed, all the interviews were originally supposed to be done face-to-face to facilitate the observation of both the interviewees' verbal and non-verbal cues during the conversation (Brennen, 2017). It was also expected that physical proximity might facilitate the start of the conversation and bring about a more comfortable and confident

atmosphere (Rowley, 2012). However, due to the virus, the Dutch government issued a social distancing policy, and many people, alike the researcher, decided to somewhat self-isolate themselves. Naturally, this situation made the meeting face-to-face for the interviews an impossible happening. Henceforth, the interviews had to be conducted instead online, through video conferences via Zoom. While this technique did save some commuting time for both parties and enabled a swift fit to the interviewees' schedules, and despite the video conference enabling the observation of non-verbal cues, interviewing through Zoom limited the amount of small talk topics shared with the interviewee before 'getting to work' (Rowley, 2012). The best was made of the situation and all interviews were conducted smoothly. Each interview lasted on average 52 minutes and was conducted, in English, in a quiet setting. Once conducted, the interviews were transcribed in a verbatim manner to facilitate their analysis.

#### 3.3.1 Consumer interviews

The set of consumers interviews took place once a full understanding of the themes composing the five dimensions of the Dutch cinema production culture were established through the document analysis and the reviews of past academic research. This finalised the chronologically followed triangulation method (Bowen, 2009). Indeed, the consumer interviews enabled to shed light on the way the Dutch audience perceives Dutch movies, cinema in general, and the transformation the country's film industry is going through. Therefore, themes such as past cinema experience as opposed to the one they currently have, motivations for going to the cinema theatres instead of staying at home to enjoy some VOD experience, the frequency of their usage of modern cinema technology (such as Imax, 3D, 4D, screen X, etc), and what does going to the cinema represents to them were touched upon in these consumer interviews (see appendix A).

Regarding the sampling method, the COVID-19 crisis altered the original sampling plan. Indeed, at first participants were supposed to be found by going to various cinema theatres and asking clients if they would have been willing to participate in the study, therefore using a random sampling technique (Flick, 2011). However, with the closure of all public buildings including cinema theatres, this original plan was not achievable. Therefore, and alternative sampling method had to be used. Considering that the consumer interviews are set in the theory of the five dimensions of film production culture, a purposeful

sampling method was applied (Flick, 2011). Sampling criteria were set to ensure that each participant would have an adequate amount of knowledge on the topic at hand and would belong to the portion of the population targeted by this study. Namely participants were gathered among the part of the population that still attends cinema theatres on a monthly basis at least, that is knowledgeable on Dutch film productions and Dutch cinema, and that is able to reflect on the contemporary transformation and changes that have occurred/are occurring in this industry. No further demographic criteria were set with regards to age, nationality or gender to be as inclusive and representative as possible. An announcement was posted on social media platforms such as Facebook, WhatsApp, and Reddit to gather such participants. A snowball sampling technique was then also used as participants were asked about their own network that might be willing to participate in the study.

In total nine interviews were conducted with Dutch consumers, as this sample of nationality was the only one who could be found to meet all the previously expressed criteria (see table 3.2. for more details on the participants sample). Finally, on a contextual note, all the interviews took only into account the experience and the relationship with cinema that consumers held before the self-isolation times. Indeed, all participants indicated a significantly higher watching ratio of VOD platform since the start of the confinement. These results although interesting on their own were discarded for the purpose of this study as they were not reflective of a 'normal life' setting or context, which was targeted in this study.

Name (invented for	Length of the	Age	Number of visits to
anonymity	interview		the cinema per
purposes)			month on average
Mark	1h. 13 mins.	25	3 times a month
Paul	47 mins.	21	Twice a month
Beth	45 mins.	28	Twice a month
Helena	48 mins.	22	On a weekly basis
Felix	45 mins.	20	3 times a month
Donnie	51 mins	22	On a weekly basis
Sarah	49 mins	19	On a weekly basis

Cosima	57 mins	24	On a weekly basis
Allison	56 mins.	23	3 times a month

Table 3.2. List of the selected consumer sample

# 3.3.2 Expert interviews and the COVID-19 crisis

Before the COVID-19 crisis hit The Netherlands, a plan had been made to conduct a second set of interviews among experts of the Dutch cinema industry. The reasoning behind this was that the expert interviews would likely bring about further in-depth information about the field studied completing the understanding for the Dutch cinema production culture (see Appendix B). Unfortunately, due to the COVID-19 crisis, this initial plan was rendered impossible. Indeed, with the closing of cinema theatres, the hold on the production of new movies, and the cancellation of all film festivals for the foreseeable future, the cinema industry suffered significant losses from the virus-led situation. Therefore, professionals of the industry were highly focused on surviving economically, finding alternative solutions, and overcoming these difficulties. Consequently, no expert with time to spare to take part in a master research could be found. Eventually, it was decided, with the supervisor's approval to abandon the project of adding expert interviews to complete and correlate the document analysis focusing solely instead on consumer interviews.

## 3.4 Analysis method

When it came to analyse the data from both the document analysis and the interviews, a thematic analysis had to be applied. In other words, noteworthy patterns, trends, practices, and elements of each of the five previously identified dimensions had to be highlighted, recorded, classified, and interpreted to be given meaning (Clarke & Braun, 2014). The thematic analysis of the manually coded data presented itself as the optimal technique to use in this case as this cost-efficient approach allows for the analysis of patterns of meaning that can be applied on a large scale (Herzog, Handke & Hitters, 2019). First, noteworthy elements each data text individually were highlighted to generate initial codes, before bringing together and categorising the codes across the different texts, creating thereby initial themes, before finally revising and improving these themes by going

once more through each text, defining, reviewing, and improving the identified themes (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

In this research, the thematic analysis was first conducted on the document analyses with respect to the five identified dimensions. Major themes with regards to the perception of movies, the Dutch film industry, and its contemporary transformation emerged. These perception themes were compared to the one identified in previous studies to make sense of how the Dutch transforming film production culture relates to how films are being perceived in The Netherlands.

Finally, the consumer interviews were also analysed to extract themes from these. As the interviews have been based on the five dimensions, it was known that the identified themes would relate to these theoretical concepts. However, a comparative analysis had to be done to establish how the consumers' emerging themes and the ones from the document analysis aligned. The data of the expert interviews were used in a confirmation and completion process to enhance the findings of the document analysis and bring together the professional/expert views of the Dutch cinema industry with the experience of the Dutch consumers.

Therefore, the analysis was set in the theory of the five dimensions defining cinema production culture. An exploratory touch was added to this thematic analysis by conducting not only a confirmatory research, set in coding consistency but also a comparative one in order to measure the relationship between the Dutch cinema production culture and the motivations of consumers for going to the movies. This thematic analysis resulted in the emergence of 13 themes within all five dimensions. Namely identified themes were production budget, and financing a movie within the first dimension; regulations, and government's involvement in the second dimension; movie genre, people involved in the making of the movie, and theatre providers for the third dimension; technological appeal, VOD competition, and marketing a film within the fourth dimensions; and consumer's experience, appeal of Dutch movies, and movie content, as part of the fifth dimension. More details are given about these results in the next chapter of this master thesis.

Finally, it may be argued that this thematic analysis ensures the trustworthiness, reliability and overall quality of the research at hand. Indeed, each step undertaken in this study was carefully considered and openly discussed before being initiated, which led to an overall comprehensiveness of the final report (Akkerman et. al., 2008). Last but not least, by

consistently comparing the data from this research to the ones obtained in previous studies, this thematic analysis was ensuring the acceptability of the research (Akkerman et. al., 2008).

# 4. Results

The following chapter of the master thesis is a report of the thematic analysis of the data obtained in both the document analysis and the consumer interviews. It aims at shedding light on the motivations of consumers for going to the movies and how they relate to the five dimensions of production culture. The analysis of the consumer interviews revealed that some dimensions of production culture are far more reflected in the motivations of the viewers than others. Therefore, the presentation of this chapter will not follow the previously established order of the dimensions but will rather be exposed by order of importance, going from the most prominent to the least significant to the consumers. Henceforth, the cultural history dimension (4.1) is first presented by the consumer's experience (4.1.1), before targeting the appeal for Dutch movies (4.1.2) and finishing with the motivation related to movie content (4.1.3). Following comes the production and distribution landscape dimension (4.2), which is divided by first studying technological appeal (4.2.1), followed by VOD competition (4.2.2), and finally marketing of a film theme (4.2.3). After this, the cinema landscape dimension (4.3) is analysed by the means of movie genre (4.3.1), people involved in the making of the movie (4.3.2), and theatre providers (4.3.3). To continue, the financial/state aid dimension (4.4) is focussed on with specific attention to production budget (4.4.1) and financing a movie (4.4.2). Finally, the last dimension of regulations/government policies (4.5) is studied through first the impact of regulations on the motivations of consumers (4.5.1) and the ones of government policies (4.5.2).

### 4.1 Cultural history dimension

Based on both data from the document analysis and the consumer motivation interviews, the cultural history dimension could be considered as the most important. Motivations related to the consumer's experience, the appeal of Dutch movies, and movie content are identified as themes composing this dimension.

### 4.1.1 Consumer's experience

The question of why people keep on going to the cinema theatres when they have an unlimited easy access to movies by the means of numerous VOD platforms yields a fairly simple answer: the experience the consumer is provided with in the theatres brings watching a movie to a different level. - "Movies are like a book plus, and cinema is like a movie plus, so a book plus plus" (Mark). – All interviewees in this research corroborated data from the document analysis by reporting that movies watched in the cinema are perceived differently due to the experience of going out and watching a movie with others in a dark theatre room (Film Research Netherlands, 2019).

With the growing crisis it amazes me to see how often I go to the cinema and how often people in general go to the cinema, how much of a bonding experience it is to go to the movies together and experience a story together. (Cosima)

In other words, spectators in theatre rooms are seeking an added value to the simple act of watching a movie, which manifest itself in various forms for each individual.

Aware of this, professionals of the industry are heavily working on improving the cinema theatres in The Netherlands (NL Film Fonds, 2019a). For example, a special interest is given to the seating situation, making chairs more comfortable and introducing Deluxe and VIP seats even if it led to a decrease of 3000 seats in total in the country, due to the wider size of the new improved chairs (PWC, 2018). Cinema theatres are betting on the numerous reports stating that consumers seek an experience more than a movie per se (Oliver and Raney, 2011; Austin, 1985). This risk is likely to pay off due to the fact that the current research conducted in 2020 still supports these older findings with participants stating: "I go to the cinema theatres to really experience the movie as a night out" (Helena).

Naturally, one might wonder what consumers entail by 'experience'. When asked, the interviewees reported that going to the cinema is no longer a single event most of the time. Many expressed that watching a movie is a form of escape from their personal and daily lives, a source of enjoyment but also a form of learning. "Cinema tells stories that would otherwise not have been told, and it can really expand your world and your views, we know a lot about this or that simply because we've seen it in movies as kids" (Sarah). It was suggested by participants to this research that cinema and movies in general are quintessential to one's social learning and formative of one's character and views of the

world. Furthermore, they reported that they tend to go to the cinema with at least another person to be able to talk about the movie afterwards and overall enjoy watching it together. This is often coupled with having a drink and/or dinner before and/or after the movie. Eating popcorn and enjoying their beverage in the dark room was reported meaning to put them in the mood for the movie. Finally, on a more technical level, all interviewees consider the size of the screen and the quality of the audio as one of the reasons making the experience of watching a movie in the theatres special. Some added that the new ways of watching movies with enhanced technologies such as 3D, 4D, or IMAX, added to the experience, making it more immersive and enjoyable. This is a point of disagreement between the interviewees that will be discussed later in the next dimension. Overall, the participants to this research reported feeling all of the 12 identified motivations for going to the movies (Austin, 1985).

Consumers' definition of experience is very similar to the one provided by the data of the document analysis stating that consumers need four things to enjoy their experience, namely socialise, have fun, wellbeing and learning (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). Therefore, cinema theatres are currently offering the 'four S' to their visitors, that is Screen, Sound, Seat and Service to satisfy the visitors and provide them with an optimal experience (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). However, as people consume movies both for hedonic and eudemonic reasons (Oliver and Raney, 2011), it was added that these efforts might not be enough in the near future and there might be a need to personalise further the consumer's experience (Film Research Netherlands, 2019).

## 4.1.2 Appeal of Dutch movies

When looking at the list of the most popular movies of 2019 in The Netherlands, among the top twenty, only one Dutch movie was featured. Although there was no real crowd-pleaser from domestic productions, it was noted that the audience was relatively equally scattered among many Dutch movies (NL Film Fonds, 2019a). Overall, a rise of the audience for Dutch movies was also recorded (NL Film Fonds, 2019a), suggesting that local content is more and more appreciated, and Netflix might be right in its localisation policy (Akinola, 2019; Dias & Navarro, 2018).

Among the Dutch avid consumers of cinema, a clear trend emerged: Dutch movies are not at the top of the favourites list. "As a Dutch person you don't really hold Dutch

cinema in high regards, you know?" (Sarah). While some expressed their unlikelihood, others questioned their quality. This discrepancy of opinion contradicts Fu (2012)'s findings that genre preferences align within nations. This corroborates the document analysis data indicating that most people among the audience members do not believe that Dutch cinema will grow in the coming five years (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). Furthermore, data assuring that domestic movies are undeniably less popular than blockbusters coming especially from the Hollywood were recorded (PWC, 2018). However, some of the interviewees could see a certain appeal to domestic movies. "I really enjoy the Dutch humour in these movies" (Donnie). Most specifically, participants reported enjoying the directness of the movies, notably how they did not shy from showing nudity and sexual content in an overt way. "A quintessential Dutch movie to me has three things: a lot of tits, a lot of violence and a lot of swearing." (Cosima). Others appreciated to simply watch a movie in their native language, which implied not having to focus and enjoy Dutch expressions and ways of communicating. "I am partly deaf, so for me it is a lot more relaxing to hear Dutch in a movie because my brain does not have to focus on both listening and understanding" (Felix). People enjoyed identifying elements of their own culture in Dutch movies, which make for their appeal. Interestingly, this was not an opinion shared by all participants, as some expressed their discomfort to follow a movie in Dutch, a language they consider as less poetic and somehow 'not right' in movies. However, all indicated that they really enjoy seeing their country portrayed in foreign movies as it entertains them and makes them feel somewhat proud and "nationalistic". This data is in accordance with the findings Jewell and McKinnon (2010) on the satisfaction of observing one's country and culture in movies. Finally, a lack of originality within the Dutch movies was noted by all participants.

This discrepancy in demand and supply for Dutch movies goes against the localisation theory defended by the document analysis. Indeed, although local content may be enjoyed, the quality of movies and their storyline seem to be prioritised. Henceforth, the Dutch cinema industry may benefit from cutting back on quantity to rather focus on quality to redeem Dutch movies in the eyes of Dutch consumers (NL Film Fonds, 2019).

### 4.1.3 Movie content

When asked what might make them chose a Dutch movie over another one, all respondents indicated that they would not choose a film simply because it is a Dutch. "I always look at the storyline, if it seems fun then I go to the movie" (Beth). The consumer interviews indicated that the content of a movie is the ultimate motivation for watching a movie as it vouches for its quality more than any other criteria (Garcia-del-Barrio & Zarco, 2017). This is supported by the document analysis, which reported that matter of movie content is part of the discussion on the future of cinema. Professionals of the industry are aware of the power of a movie's content on attracting the audience to the cinema theatres (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). When focusing on the future of cinema and how to ensure this medium will survive in the coming years, data indicate a recommendation to have as diverse of a content as possible within the same theatres (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). For instance, the screenings of live events in cinemas such as concerts, ballets, plays, Oscar ceremonies, etc. is positive for the revenues of theatres (PWC, 2018). Indeed, the document analysis confirmed that consumers enjoy cultural content when they go to the theatres.

I enjoy going to museums myself, I am a big fan of modern art; A lot of my friends are not, but they do go to the cinemas. So, I think it's an easy way to also have a cultural experience. (Helena)

In other words, cinema may be considered as a form of art that cultivates one's mind on the same level than any piece from a museum would.

Furthermore, data from this research indicate that VOD platforms are often criticised for the quality of their movie content. Although some interviewees noted an amelioration of this in the past few months, especially since the beginning of the COVID-19 crisis, many participants tend to prefer none-original content from the VOD platform, that is movies redistributed rather than produced by the platforms. To be more competitive, it appears essential for cinema theatres to keep on providing the best content quality possible. Focusing on local content and cultural content is a way to do so as is attracts a wider audience who can identify to the movie (Mayer, Banks, & Caldwell, 2009). In light of the importance of the successes of blockbusters, on which the entire Dutch theatrical industry relies (NL Film Fonds, 2019a), it appears strategically beneficial to produce and

distribute sequels (Dhar, Sun, & Weinberg, 2012) and movies engaging fans from an already popular fandom (Henkel, James, and Croce, 2015). This explains why more and more books are adapted (Haase, 2015) and local history movies are made (Diawara, 1992). This technique is justified by data collected from the interviewees who recognised to be stimulated by their fandoms. "The Lord of the Rings series is very special to me; I must have seen it like 30 times at least" (Paul).

To conclude, the consumer interviews revealed that the main motivation for choosing a movie regardless of the platform it will be viewed on is the content of the film. This criterion appears to be further highlighted when picking a movie to see in the cinema theatres. Going to the cinema is often perceived as an entire event and generally coupled with other activities before and/or after the movie. For the experience to be positive, the content of the movie is deemed essential. This is the reason why Dutch movies are an interesting case that brings a strong disparity of opinions. On the one hand the local content appeals to the Dutch consumers. On the other hand, it is often deemed of a lesser quality and less entertaining than movies from the United States.

# 4.2 Production and distribution landscape dimension

This second dimension may also be considered as clearly reflected in the consumer's motivations for going to the movies as all participants highlighted the importance of technological appeal, VOD competition, and marketing of a film in their decision making.

## 4.2.1 Technological appeal

Noticeably, without being asked about any form of technology specifically, nearly all respondents mentioned the modern possibility to watch movies shown in 3D, 4D, and/or IMAX in the cinema theatres. It is important to note that the opinions on the matter of their added value to a movie were far from unanimous among the participants. Some expressed their love for it and their tendency to always favour the timeslot allowing them to watch the movie in a technologically enhanced form. Others, on the contrary, testified of a discomfort when facing these elements, which pushes them to either seek out a different time slot than their preferred one or to look for a different cinema offering the movie in 2D. "When I was a kid it used to be very cool, but then I got glasses and now it gives me headaches, so I never

go if the movie is in 3D" (Allison). Finally, some showed a complete indifference towards these new ways of watching movies, preferring to choose their movie based on the time slot they were available on regardless of the viewing conditions.

Despite this parity of opinions, it is undeniable that more and more cinema theatres are investing in these types of technologies. The document analysis revealed for instance that most investments in The Netherlands cinema theatres industry were targeting the multiplication of theatres and the improvements of the old ones with technological features. 2018 may be remembered as the year the 4DM seats and the matching 4DX technology were introduced in The Netherlands as well as Screen X, IMAX laser and IMAX 12-channel in various theatres across the country (PWC, 2018). In other words, investments are operated in various cinema theatres to improve the sound and vision quality for the consumer. This is likely to be fruitful in light of the data gathered from the consumer interviews, during which many reported that these technologies enhance their experience with the movie and immerse them fully in the story. This is why these types of technologies are so widely popular despite the additional price tag that accompanies them (Weinberg et. al., 2020; Efrat et. al., 2016). However, interviewees also admitted that certain genres of movies seem to be best suited for the added value of technologically enhanced experience while others are more enjoyable when focused solely on the storyline.

All of the horror movies that I go to are either in 3D or in 4D because it brings a whole new experience to the horror genre but if I go with my family to like a Disney movie then we don't use any of that. (Paul)

This analysis was shared in the document analysis by experts who recognise that they have to be mindful of the potentials of 4D.

Therefore, depending on one's taste in movie genres, the attraction towards enhanced technologies to experience movies varies. For those whose taste in movies also fits the technological advancements, the data revealed that they often enjoy it and sometimes even make it systematically part of their cinema experience.

I don't really enjoy watching movies normally without IMAX or 3D. I always try to find my movie first in IMAX, then I look for 3D and then I look for 4D options when I go to the cinema. (Felix)

### 4.2.2 VOD competition

It is impossible to talk about movies without being confronted to the topic of VOD platforms. Indeed, as of 2018, VOD platforms have officially surpassed the traditional cinema theatres with regards to their revenues and market share (NL Film Fonds, 2019a) confirming the suspicions of Hilderbrand in 2010 that VOD platforms would soon become the main source of home entertainment and the ones of Behrends and Fischl in 2005 stating that cinema would know its main competitor ever in the form of VOD technologies. Certainly, with the continuous significant decrease of illegal downloading and DVD/Blue Ray, VOD technologies occupy a significant place within the household (NL Film Fonds, 2019a). This is the reason why cinema theatres tend to open their own VOD platforms to remain competitive and reinvest the revenues from the platform into constructing a premium in theatres experience for the consumers (PWC, 2018). In The Netherlands, 160 VOD platforms have been recorded, the main ones being Netflix, Pathé Thuis, and Videoland (NL Film Fonds, 2019a). Participants to this research stated that they own at least one personal VOD account, sometimes going all the way to four accounts on four different platforms, all except one who had access to a friend's and his family's. The interviewees reporting watching movies on a weekly basis at least and are all heavy cinema goers reinforces the data from the document analysis that suggested that frequent VOD users are also frequent cinemagoers (Film Research Netherlands, 2019).

Participants to the study all revealed that they prefer watching a movie in the cinema over watching a movie on a VOD platform. In their opinion, cinema theatres bring something extra to the movie experience. "Going to the cinema is very important to me, you do not get the same sensations from a movie on VOD, it does not resonate with you in the same way" (Cosima). This finding is in line with an unpopular opinion that VOD platforms are in fact not a danger to the cinema industry but rather enhance the demand for cinema (Henning-Thurau, et. al., 2007). Despite the rise of VOD platforms, which are predicted to keep on growing in the coming years, the cinema theatres are still increasing

their box-office every year by 2 to 3%, a trend that is expected to continue thanks to blockbusters (PWC, 2018).

All interviewees reported that their usage of VOD platforms was infinitely different from their cinema habits. For instance, many testified that choosing a movie to watch in the cinema is a more careful process than picking a movie to watch on a VOD platform. They justified this difference based on the time investment that going to the cinema theatre represents - "On Netflix I can just play a movie, if after 10 minutes I don't like I can always stop, it's a lot harder to walk out of a theatre room during the movie" (Sarah) - , the price tag attached to the purchase of a cinema ticket, and the type of movie selected. The interviewees also reported considering whether a movie is worth seeing in the cinema or if it is better to wait a little bit longer and see it on VOD a mere few weeks later. This type of thought is made possible by the theatrical windows becoming shorter and shorter leading to consumers being less motivated to make the 'effort' physical and financial to go to the cinema theatres (Film Research Netherlands, 2019) whilst VOD platforms have shown to provide the viewer with a freedom of scheduling and a freedom of movement and equipment (Mikos, 2016). This is why when discussing the future of cinema, it was often mentioned in the documents studied in this research that theatres might have to learn from VOD platforms especially with regards to integrating, consolidating, and differentiating the audience engagement and reward systems (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). To this extent the All Stars loyalty programme set by Pathé may be a relevant strategy (PWC, 2018).

# 4.2.3 Marketing a film

In order for a movie to be seen, people must be aware of its existence. Caldwell (2008) has found that distribution is in fact as important for the success of a movie than is its production. First, professionals of the cinema industry must be made aware of a film, this often happening through film festivals (NL Film Fonds, 2019a). Later, a movie must be distributed to a larger public and marketed to the audience to attract them. In the document analysis, one key trend that is harmful to the industry at the moment was highlighted; the fact that movies are often marketed long before their actual release date and suddenly no longer mentioned once they are available on the screen (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). This tendency is harmful as interviewees testified that they often go to a movie if they hear about it, or if it is recommended to them. In addition, consumers also

noted that they usually plan their cinema outing at the last moment or within a week at most prior to their visit. Therefore, it is recommended to extend the information about the movie as much as possible beyond the release date and focus on conveying the marketing of a film through mobile phones (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). Furthermore, as consumers are becoming more and more amateurs of video technology, introducing VR in movie marketing campaigns might prove to be a very inclusive and experiential way to raise awareness for an in-coming movie and ensure a big buzz (Film Research Netherlands, 2019).

In conclusion, it was found that remaining competitive and existing in an increasingly busy film sector is a challenge for both VOD platforms and cinema theatres. Certain techniques may be employed to overcome these issues, namely focusing on providing high-quality content to the consumers. Overall, it is advised to cinema theatres to adopt a new business model to market movies that they are distributing and to keep on promoting movies after their release date rather than focusing only on beforehand marketing (PWC, 2018). Aware of this, cinema theatres pay particular attention to new technologies while VOD platforms focus on content exclusivity.

# 4.3 Cinema landscape dimension

With a population going on average 2.1 times a year to the cinema, it is very important for the Dutch theatrical industry to identify the motivations that push people to go to the movies (NL Film Fonds, 2019a). As Austin (1985) stated motivations may vary per groups, it is also interesting for them to note that people between 40 and 54 years old are the fondest of cinema while the younger generation between 16 and 23 years old represent the highest share of cinema admission (NL Film Fonds, 2019a). However, the attendance of this specific group is decreasing, a fact that professionals of the industry worry about as young people must be hooked to going to the cinema early on in life reiterate this behaviour later on (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). Through the analysis of the data related to cinema landscape dimension, many motivations for consumers to go to the movies were identified. Motivations related to movie genre, people involved in the making of the movie, and theatre providers were extracted from the consumer interviews conducted for this research and discussed in this section. As per the previous dimensions, the data is added to the one from the document analysis and results from previous research.

#### 4.3.1 Movie genre

As mentioned earlier, consumers tend to view various genres of movies on different platforms. In this instance, the interviewees separated themselves into two clear groups, those who only considered going to the cinema for commercial action movies and/or horror movies and those who on the contrary preferred watching independent art house movies in the cinema. The document analysis revealed that the majority of Dutch people belong to the first group category. Indeed, in 2018, it appears that box office breaking records were reached thanks to blockbusters releases in the second part of the year while an overall increase of the ticket price by 4.3% was recorded (PWC, 2018).

Although the interviewees differed in terms of their genre preferences, in light with Redfern (2012)'s findings that different groups like different genres, all agreed that the genre of a movie is a direct criterion in their choice of a movie. They went further by explaining that watching their favourite movie genre in the theatres simply highlighted their preferred features and rendered the experience more enjoyable and more intense. For instance, watching a horror movie in the cinema made the movie itself creepier due to the dark atmosphere, the other spectators screaming, and the enhanced audio. On the other hand, watching an independent and/or art house movie in the cinema reportedly enables the viewer to dive deeper into the story, feel more involved, and happed by the story. People enjoy different movie genres and use that criterion as a prime motivation when choosing a movie to watch. "I only go to Horror movies in the cinema because I think that these experiences are best seen on a big screen as opposed to like romance movies that are a bit awkward to see in the cinema" (Felix). The document analysis suggested that it is essential for cinema theatres to play both blockbusters that are fruitful for the revenues of the theatres and on which depends the yearly box office as well as 'original titles' that will attract a different audience (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). By doing so, cinema theatres target an extremely wide range of audiences.

### 4.3.2 People involved in the making of the movie

The importance of stars and overall famous names attached to the making of a movie is a topic that has long been argued in the cinema industry. As expressed in the theoretical framework chapter, any person involved in the production of a movie has an

impact on the final product delivered (Caldwell, 2008). However, beyond influencing the content of a movie on a cultural level, researchers have long fought over the true effectiveness of the Star Power system (Basuroy, Chatterjee, & Ravid, 2003). When asked, the interviewed consumers all reported having favourite stars that they admire and look forward to seeing in movies. Some of them had seen all movies from their favourite stars such as Jacky Chan or Woody Allen to name a few, verifying De Vany and Walls (1999)'s findings concerning the fact that directors have an influence on the audience attraction although to a lesser extent. Indeed, while names such as Woody Allen or Tarantino were mentioned among the favourite directors, a lot of interviewees also revealed that they do not care so much about directors and tend to focus more on the actors and actresses of the movie. They explained their tendency to prefer movies with big stars by stating that big experienced stars tend to deliver a better performance, therefore raising the overall quality of the movie. This is a finding in line with Elberse (2007)'s work on the success of the star power system.

Interestingly, however, despite acknowledging their attraction towards some celebrity's work, the interviewees revealed that star power is, in fact, obsolete if a movie is not outstanding on other levels. Indeed, none of them seemed willing to go blindly to a movie simply because their idol was involved in it. Instead, all testified that they first check what the movie is about, and often check the reviews of the film before going. "I see the trailer, or I look up on IMDb for reviews and ratings and actually based on that I pick the movie, if the actors that I like are in the movie, then it's just an added bonus" (Allison). Therefore, a film's content and reviews are in fact some of the most relevant consumer motivations for going to said film. This is a finding in line with Basuroy, Chatterjee, and Ravid (2003), opponents to the star system's frenzy of other academics and professionals of the cinema industry. When developing further on the reviews of movies that they consider before going to a movie, the interviewees once again separated in distinct groups, some preferring official press reviews and others favouring audience reviews. In the small sample of participants gathered, most of them belonged to the second group. Although a bigger sample would need to be used to properly verify that fact, this trend is in accordance with the findings of the document analysis that reviews from fellow viewers matter most in the motivation to see a movie. Press reviews are often seen as too specialist, cinephile and overall tend to favour independent movies to the big commercial blockbusters that interest

the audience most, whilst recommendations from influencers are often suspected of being paid for and unauthentic (Film Research Netherlands, 2019).

Therefore, data from the consumer interviews reported that although star power is not a proper motivation for watching a movie, it is an element that might tip the balance towards a movie more than another one of similar quality and content. Thus, once the true motivators of movie content and reviews are met, star power might influence the final decision. However, all interviewees reported that they do not mind watching movies with unknown actors.

### *4.3.3 Theatre providers*

With regards to the cinema theatre providers in The Netherlands, one clear player stands out from the others: Pathé. Although not the only chain of theatres in the country, it possesses by far the biggest share of the theatrical market in The Netherlands (44.4%) even if art houses and independent cinemas account for more screens (513 screens to 458) (NL Film Fonds, 2019a). Interestingly, interviewees reported mixed feelings towards these big commercial theatres. Whilst some only considered going to big and modern cinema centres, others preferred smaller competitors in the form of independent and/or art house cinemas.

While sometimes a cinema theatre is chosen due to its location and/or its proximity from the interviewee's home, more intrinsic motivations were also revealed in the choice of a cinema theatre. For instance, Pathé presents technological advantages that many enjoy and consider to be a part of the experience of watching a movie. Other interviewees expressed discomfort with the crowds of the big Pathé as well as a dissatisfaction with their programming. Instead, they favoured smaller independent theatres, in which they feel more comfortable and warmer and in which they can watch movies that tend to interest them more. Certainly, the type and genre of movies showed was reported to alter depending on the venue, which also influences the consumer's choice as previously explained. People are increasingly searching for passion and genre niches, which brings them to go to the theatres that offer what they are looking for (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). That is to say, people consume cinema in a very selective manner, going essentially to the movies and theatres that fit their taste and personality, entirely ignoring other forms of cinematic entertainment.

The document analysis also revealed that people are more motivated to go to cinema theatres that practice dynamic pricing, that is the possibility of booking tickets ahead of time and with less preferable seats being cheaper (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). Although no mentions of this were made in the interviews, interviewees expressed different reasons pushing them to choose a venue over another one such as the membership system. This confirmed the previous findings of Ebbers and Wijnberg (2009) that membership programmes and systems acute the loyalty of consumers. The document analysis revealed that the cinema theatres in The Netherlands are well aware of this fact and try to improve this system further and further with notably the creation of the Pathé All Stars programme, which comes as an addition to the Pathé unlimited and Pathé unlimited gold cards (NL Film Fonds, 2019a; <a href="https://www.pathe.nl/allstars">https://www.pathe.nl/allstars</a>). The desire to be faithful to a cinema theatre can also be expressed differently. For instance, some of the consumers who reported liking smaller independent art house cinema theatres better also expressed their wish to support these types of institutions by visiting these venues rather than the big commercial Pathé ones. Incidentally, this reason also justified for a few of them the desire to pay for an individual ticket every time they went to the movies rather than subscribing to a membership system. "I feel like I'm doing my part in a sense in supporting the art-houses by pay for my ticket every time" (Cosima).

To conclude, there are various motivations related to the cinema landscape that bring consumers to the cinema theatres. On a pragmatic level, the theatre venue matters in the decision making, most specifically with regards to the location and the type of movies they show. In this respect, the movie genre also has a strong influence on the consumer's motivations. Finally, the data from this research revealed that although a famous name attached to the making of a movie might make the film more enticing, it is not a motivation strong enough to participate fully to the decision to watch a movie. Instead, reviews are essential and often one of the first thing considered when deciding which movie to go to.

### 4.4 Financial/state aid dimension

The following dimension may be considered as essential to the making of cinema as both making movies and constructing cinema theatres requires subventions and financing. Consequently, the data from the document analysis on the matter was very extensive.

However, in the consumer interviews, it appeared that only the matter of budget was a relevant motivation for going to a specific movie. The interviewees were not aware or did not mind how a movie was financed. Therefore, in this dimension, two themes appeared, only one of which is a proper motivation to go to the movies: production budget and financing a movie. The budget theme will be discussed first as it is also a proper consumer motivation followed by the more hidden aspect of the cinema industry's work.

## 4.4.1 Production budget

The participants to this research do not see all movies as equal in terms of quality. As previously expressed, this quality gap may rest in the genre of the movie, the story/content, the technological prowess, and/or the people involved in the making of the movie. However, many seemed to consider that all these aspects may be combined under one element: a movie's production budget. "I think at the end of the day if there was no budget there would be less quality to the movie" (Mark). Indeed, many interviewees estimated that a big production budget might enable the filmmakers to spend more time on the movie, improving its quality. They also mentioned that it enabled the hiring of more famous and/or talented actors and directors, an interpretation that was shared in previous research (Ibnal Asad, Ahmed, & Rahman, 2012). Therefore, interviewees seemed to consider that an extensive production budget is a great advantage for a movie. In fact, many expressed their reticence towards Dutch movies compared to Hollywood movies justifying it by a lack of budget for Dutch productions. "They [Dutch movies] are just not as good because The Netherlands are not as experienced or as grossly budgeted as bigger movie production company" (Mark). Certainly, this observation revealed itself fairly accurate in light of the fact that Dutch productions amount to only 7.2% on the box office revenue when US movies represent 74.6% in The Netherlands (NL Film Fonds, 2019a). This is reflected in the general recent trend of people no longer going to well-reviewed, mid-budgeted movies in the cinema but rather favouring big blockbusters (Film Research Netherlands, 2019; Ravid, 1999; Elberse, 2013). As investors primarily aim to make money with movies (Pillania, 2008), the Dutch film industry is facing a draw-back of subventions every year due to an overall decrease in the production value of Dutch movies (NL Film Fonds, 2019a).

However, interestingly, when asked directly if they thought that a bigger production budget assures a better movie, all of interviewees stated that a movie with a small

production budget can also be good. Caldwell (2008) explains this discrepancy by the fact that cinema may be considered as both an art and a business. That is to say that good movies may emerge from less subsidised projects. This is illustrated by the fact that Dutch movies are still somewhat domestically popular and were selected in 1248 film festivals around the world, earning 226 international prices in the process in 2018 (NL Film Fonds, 2019a). Although production budget is seen as not entirely necessary to make a good movie, consumers still attach a lot of importance to it and consider it as part of their motivation for going to the cinema. "Movie theatres are usually this big sparkly thing that fits big-budget movies and then you have Netflix, which is a bit less sparkly for the other movies" (Felix).

## 4.4.2 Financing a movie

Through the document analysis, it became apparent that any type of movie from (co)production cinematic films to feature-length documentaries and animated films may apply for a grant from The Netherlands film incentive, one of the most important grants delivered for film in The Netherlands. Conditions of selection rely on aspects such as being represented by a legitimate producer with experience in the past seven years that is established in a country in accord with European rules. Furthermore, the minimum production budget estimation for the film is also considered in the selection process as movies applying must have a minimum production budget of 600 000 euros. Finally, at least 50% of the production budget must already be allocated upon application. If selected during either of the two-yearly selections, a movie may receive up to 35% cash rebate, or 1.5 million euros, which is subject to Dutch taxation. Naturally, there are conditions accompanying every fund received regardless of the source (Joshi, & Hanssens, 2009). This is also the case for the film incentive fund, which requires for the movie produced to be distributed at least in The Netherlands. Furthermore, a certain amount of the allocated fund, determined by the production costs, must be spent on parties that are subject to Dutch taxation.

Looking closer into the Film Fund itself, it appeared that this institution gathers money from various sources every year such as government support and revenues on previous investments and reinvest it primarily in movies but also professionalising talents and educating the Dutch population (NL Film Fonds, 2019b). This is how, in 2020, the Film

Fund held 19.25 million euros to distribute to film productions (NL Film Fonds, 2020) and received 2.4 million euros from the government to focus on its other projects (NL Film Fonds, 2019b). Naturally, the Film Fund is not the only means for movies to obtain funding. Other investors may be found in funding from TV (Behil, 2010), crowdfunding and private investors (Derin, 2010) and other funding associations such as Fund NL (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). In the coming years between 2021 and 2024, less money will overall be available for funding movies directly as a general effort from the government is made towards financing extra space for film projects, talent development outside of direct production process, improving the connection between supply and demand in the country, and increasing diversity of production (NL Film Fonds, 2019b). This will lead to a policy of more money for less film so as to insist on the quality rather than the quantity and hopefully redeem and re-popularise Dutch cinema in the eyes of the audience (NL Film Fonds, 2019b). This policy might prove to be successful as it allows to focus further on all the elements mentioned in the cinema landscape dimensions (Garcia-del-Barrio & Zarco, 2017).

To conclude, movies require financing in order to exist and be able to make their own revenues through box office and other means of distribution. Gathering a big production budget is a great asset for a movie as it provides it with better chances to raise its quality. A consequence of this trend is that audience members have learned to expect more from bigger production budget productions and tend to favour them over smaller projects. However, cinema being both a business and an art form, movies with small production budget may also reach high levels of quality and popularity.

## 4.5 Regulations/government policies

This last dimension revealed itself as the least important in terms of its reflection on the motivations of the consumers for going to the cinema theatres. Two main themes emerged from the data, namely the role of regulations and the role of the government's involvement. However, as was the case in the previous dimension, only one of these identified themes is actually related to the consumer's motivation for going to the cinema theatres: regulations.

### 4.5.1 Regulations

A first element that appeared in all interviews was the fact that every consumer knew of regulations from Kijkwijzer. Although, most of them showed confusion about what was meant by the term 'regulation' in the question, suggesting that the participants do not have the fact that there might be rules limiting their access to content at the for front of their mind. Nonetheless, it has been established that governments can influence how and why movies, among other forms of expression, are done the way they are (Szczepanik & Vonderau, 2013). While all participants testified of their knowledge of regulations, a few participants mentioned that they were unaware of the origins these rules were, may it be governmental or from independent institutions.

The document analysis enabled to answer that question as it made obvious that Kijkwijzer is a combined effort between cinema associations and the government. The main role of the government remaining to ensure that the regulations are respected in public theatres (http://www.kijkwijzer.nl/organisatie). Many of the interviewees observed identity checks before entering a cinema rooms for movies with more important Kijkwijzer restrictions than other. A noticeably story being one of the interviewees being denied access to the movie Deadpool, which was a 16-year-old rated movie because he had forgotten his ID that would justify that he was above the age limit. "We had to go see another movie because I was stupid enough to forget my ID card and they would not let us in" (Felix). On the other hand, another interviewee indicated that as a child she would often go to the cinema with her parents and would always be allowed in the rooms even when she did not meet the age requirements, as long as she was accompanied by her guardians. "The Dutch are very liberal with that, these are just warnings, but you can do whatever you want with your own children" (Cosima). Naturally, this reports events from a decade ago, which may suggest that the government has been tightening its policies ever since. Other interviewees noted that the identification checks are more common in big theatres chains such as Pathé than in smaller independent cinemas.

Sundholm (2012)'s findings on the fact that the rating system for movies is illustrative of its country's value system are well illustrated by this evolution of The Netherlands' Kijkzijzer regulations system. Indeed, all interviewees stated that they are rather satisfied with the system of their country as it is not too prude. "It's good to show these kinds of things because it is an art form and it is the real world; It is there, and it is pure" (Helena). Many reflected that due to the amount of nudity in Dutch movies and the

overall open-mindedness of the Dutch culture towards sexuality, a very strict rating system might be counter-productive and somewhat hypocritical. "It's not necessary to protect the children in that way anymore because if they want to see it, they will see it anyway elsewhere" (Donnie). Finally although all of them expressed their current dis-interest for the regulations system, which does not concern them as they are all above 16 years old, many testified that they are happy that the system exist and fully intend to make use of it once they are parents themselves.

#### 4.5.2 Government's involvement

Beyond the knowledge of official regulations regarding the recommendations and restrictions of access to movies, participants reported having no awareness of the involvement of the government in the matters of the cinema industry. "I have no idea how that works and to be honest I was never really interested in it either" (Allison). However, the document analysis undeniably showed that the government has in fact a strong involvement in the cinema industry as a facilitator and supporter of the medium and the art.

In The Netherlands, the government has provided substantial funds to various receivers to promote cinema. For instance, between 2021 and 2024 the government has committed itself to providing financial support to film festivals to enhance experimentation with movies. This is done by implementing more space to experience outside of the production process. The government also hopes to develop new talents among Dutch people through skill labs and writers' rooms to re-boost the Dutch film industry (NL Film Fonds, 2019b). Many of these reforms of sort came from an effort to meet the requests of Dutch filmmakers who felt pressured to produce content with a unique commercial goal (Dijksterhuis, 2019). It may be argued that this financial help provided by the Dutch government illustrates the intrinsic motive of promoting national labour that Coles (2010) described as characteristic of the motivations and conditions for governmental support. This is further illustrated by the heavy governmental financing of the main four film festivals of The Netherlands: IFFR, IDFA, Cinekid, and Netherlands films festival.

The financial efforts and commitment to film showed by the Dutch minister of culture Van Engelshoven is a good illustration of Loboto (2009)'s findings that governments primarily finance movies treating of cultural matters. Indeed, the minister stated that she is intending on protecting the strong signature of Dutch movie makers (Dijksterhuis, 2019).

"The minister is looking for 'a broad package of measures to promote the individuality and quality of Dutch film'" (van Engelshoven in Dijksterhuis, 2019). This is why the Film fund is among the prime receivers of the heavy governmental financing for film education purposes (Government of The Netherlands, 2018; Dijksterhuis, 2019). Although plans are made to allow more space for experimentation, education and un-rushed projects, there have been, as of yet, no concrete implementations to show for. Furthermore, many within the industry still criticise the minister for not yet acknowledging many of the film-makers issues. For instance, the government is not yet responding to the requests for a levy on streaming platforms that would generate more revenues for the film sector (Dijksterhuis, 2019). There are also no plans to install screening quota for Dutch movies on any streaming platforms.

To conclude, while both the findings from previous academic research and the document analysis have made undeniable that the involvement of governments in cinema matters cannot be underscored, Dutch consumers seemed to be rather unaware and/or uncaring of the government's role in the production and distribution of movies in The Netherlands, beyond a potential participation to the Kijkwijzer criteria settings.

# 5. Conclusion & Discussion

This final chapter of the master thesis aims at summarising the results from this research to assess their outcome and meaning for the Dutch cinema industry, as well as for the current debates occurring in the academic world over that industry and film production culture in general. By discussing the implications of the data gathered in this research, conclusions are drawn. A final answer will be provided to the research question of this thesis, namely: *How is the transforming film production culture in The Netherlands reflected in consumers' motivations for going to the movies?*. This is achieved by first recapitulating the outcome of the research (5.1) before considering the implications that they represent (5.2) especially with regards to the theoretical implications (5.2.1) and the societal and practical implications (5.2.2). Following this, the limitations of this research (5.3) are considered. Finally, recommendations for future research based on the results and limitations of this study are discussed (5.4).

#### 5.1 Outcome of the research

From the consumer interviews analysis, eight motivations for going to the cinema theatres emerged, namely experience, content of the movie, technological appeal, movie genre, people involved, budget, theatre provider, culture in a movie. Overall it appeared that the main motivation for watching a movie regardless of the platform used is the content of the movie, that is its storyline, genre, budget, cultural elements, and the people involved in its making. Therefore, the combined efforts of the Film Fonds and the Dutch government to raise the quality level of Dutch movies is a good strategy to render domestic cinema more popular (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). On the other hand, the main motivation for travelling all the way to a cinema theatre and paying a ticket entrance is the experience in and surrounding the cinema theatre. In other words, the participants in this study rarely go to the cinema theatres out of sheer attraction for a movie but rather expect to be met with a special experience going beyond the movie itself. This is often translated by watching a film with special enhancing technologies, purchasing beverages and snacks, as well as turning the cinema visit into a social outing coupled with drinks and/or dinner prioror post-movie. In this prospect, the important investments that the Dutch theatrical

industry is making on renovating theatres and equipping them with technological experience enhancers, participates to making it stand out against its prime competitors: VOD platforms (NL Film Fonds, 2019). Interestingly, this research also revealed that people with similar movie tastes tend to like the same way of experiencing a movie. For instance, the participants who revealed enjoying action and horror movies also reported being big adepts of technologically enhanced experiences in the form of IMAX, 3D, and 4D. On the other hand, participants who preferred art house movies and romantic comedies tended to favour movies shown in 2D or IMAX at most. This highlights further the necessity for cinema theatres to have a diverse range of movie genres and screening times to ensure that consumers can all find entertainment in their favoured form in the cinema theatres (Film Research Netherlands, 2019).

These motivations shared by all participants although to various degrees depending on their personal taste are reflected in all the five dimensions of production culture except for one: Regulations/Government's policies. Considering that all these motivation factors often interrelate within the dimensions, film production culture is reflected in the consumer's motivation for going to the movies. Indeed, despite a lack of reflection of the regulations/government policies dimension in the consumer's motivations, it may be assumed that different age groups might take into account age regulations when choosing a movie. Therefore, the absence of motivation reflected within the second dimension of production culture may be due to the sample of participants to this research that does not currently have a need for it.

Finally, the case of domestic movies also gave way to compelling findings. Indeed, while Dutch movies are recognised around the world on the festival scene and winning many prices every year (NL Film Fonds, 2019), the interviewees reported a dislike for their domestic cinema, or to at least admitted to not valuing it in high regards. This was partially found to be due to the influence of big American blockbusters with high budgets (PWC, 2018). Indeed, the interviewees have learned to expect a lot from big-budgeted production and tend to consider that a lesser budget will likely affect the quality of a movie. This explains why big blockbusters are the main movies watched in the country every year while smaller-budgeted domestic movies struggle to reach the top 20 (NL Film Fonds, 2019). This is especially interesting due to the fact that the local cultural content strongly appeals to consumers (Schäler, 2003). Nonetheless, they are often deemed of a lesser quality and

lesser entertainment value because of their limited budget. Despite a clear scepticism from the audience towards domestic movies, the Dutch government still heavily invest in these movies in the hope to educate and convey the Dutch culture to the public (Dijksterhuis, 2019). This dichotomy of opinions suggests that certain measures, which will be discussed in the following section, must be taken to redeem domestic cinema in the eyes au the public and to justify the investment that it receives.

### **5.2 Implications**

Naturally, all these results have underlying meanings that are interesting to consider in order to draw meaningful conclusions answering the research question posed in this thesis. Indeed, the qualitative trait of this research does not only aim at confirming whether a relationship exists between production culture and consumer motivations for attending cinema theatre, but also at determining the nature of this relationship.

### 5.2.1 Theoretical implications

On an academic level, it may be said that this research participates in several theoretical debates about the cinema industry. To begin with, it may be argued that this study extended the understanding of film production culture, as a new conceptualisation of this notion was created from the deductive reading of four sources (Caldwell, 2008; Mayer, Banks, & Caldwell, 2009; Lobato, 2009; Szczepanik & Vonderau, 2013). These four pioneer works were brought together in order to encase all aspects of production culture in one framework. This new framework dividing production culture into five dimensions proved to be not only inclusive but to also be reflected in consumer's motivations for going to the movies. In other words, the conceptualisation of production culture effectuated in this study enables to shed light on the reflection of the film industry in a given country on the audience members' motivations, preferences and demands. It operates on domestic and international levels and provided an intrinsic basis to build this study upon. Therefore, it is believed that research on a nation's film sector may widely profit from using the conceptualisation of production culture established in this study.

Moreover, this study highlighted the fact that researchers should consider further cinema industries and not only the Hollywood industry. Indeed, most research on the topic of cinema consider the American system (Kumb, Kunz, & Siegert, 2016). Others group many

nations into one by studying European or Asian cinemas for instance (Kumb, Kunz, & Siegert, 2016). This study has demonstrated that each nation is unique in its own form of cinema due to the fifth dimension of production culture, which deals with the historical and cultural accounts that are reflected both in movies and in consumers' tastes, expectations, and demands. Therefore, along the line of Caldwell (2008)'s thinking, the data from this research would suggest to proceede with caution and to rather consider countries individually with regard to their production culture and their domestic cinema. A clear discrepancy between the significant success of Dutch productions in the festival industry as opposed to the reticence of the Dutch people towards their own domestic cinema makes it an interesting case to consider (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). All the previously exposed strategies applied by the Dutch industry to overcome its flaws, further accentuate the necessity to contemplate nations individually. Indeed, the issues faced by the Dutch industry are unique to this nation, and the strategies established differ from how another country might have faced similar issues. Therefore, it can be argued that this master thesis challenges the academic tendency to group together nations to study their film sector and to seldom step away from the analysis of the Hollywood system.

Another debate that this research brings nuancing to regards the relationship between cinema and VOD platforms. The relationship between the two is seldom studied in detail and fail to consider how blurrier the line separating cinema from VOD productions is becoming. Indeed, it was found that most suggestions given to improve the production culture of cinema and the overall quality of movies may be applied to both the cinema industry and VOD platforms. Furthermore, VOD platforms are attempting to enter the traditional means of distribution to be eligible for nominations to prices and recognitions, while cinema theatres are trying to compete on the VOD level by creating their own platforms (NL Film Fonds, 2019). Henceforth, this research argues that while VOD and theatrical platforms remain competitive in essence, considering them both as being part of the Cinema industry rather than systematically posing them as separate entities, might be a more modern and accurate conceptualisation.

To conclude, this study brought many nuances to current academic conversations about the changing film industry and its effect on consumers' motivations for going to the movies. Most importantly, the conceptualisation of production culture established in this research is a solid model to understand a nation's cinema industry, and its larger

implications. Finally, it was highlighted that updating the perception of cinema industry to incorporate a VOD branch to it might be a right contemporary representation of the international cinema sector.

### 5.2.2 Societal and practical implications

On a practical level, the participants to this research reported considering the content of movies as the most important decision factor when picking a movie regardless of the platform they used to do so. Furthermore, it was confirmed that motivations for watching movies are based on both eudemonic and hedonic reasons (Oliver & Raney, 2011). Consequently, it is found that both VOD platforms and traditional cinema productions should focus on improving the overall quality of the movies they provide (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). This may be achieved through various means, namely improving the content, focussing on genre-appropriate technology enhancements, and concentrating the production budget (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). The document analysis revealed that these measures are often discussed themes in conversation about the future of cinema (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). Therefore, the Dutch cinema industry is already slowly incorporating these new measures in its domestic productions (PWC, 2018; Dijksterhuis, 2019). However, a long list of "stupid comedies" and low-budget productions of low quality has rendered the interviewees wary of their domestic cinema. Therefore, it is suggested that following the previously exposed elements to improve the quality of Dutch movies appears essential for the survival of the domestic cinema industry of The Netherlands (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). Furthermore, it may also be argued that the current strategy of the Film Fund to refocus grant distribution in order to finance fewer movies but with more money may show to be extremely beneficial (NL Film Fonds, 2019). Indeed, data from this research reveals that Dutch consumers are likely to be attracted by big-budget Dutch productions of quality, especially if it portrays an interesting storyline filled with historical and/or cultural references to The Netherlands as well as talented famous actors and directors. These elements are important to take into consideration for the future of Dutch cinema production.

Furthermore, this research highlighted the necessity to improve the overall marketing of movies (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). Although star power might influence the balance towards a movie rather than another one if they are of equal

qualities, it is not a prime criterion in the decision process making when selecting a movie to attend. Therefore, rather than advertising movies based on the actors who star in them, it is advised to focus the marketing on the storyline and the quality of the movie instead. In light of the technological developments around the world in all types of industries, it was also found that advertising strategies for films might have to increasingly focus on interactive and mobile marketing. Most importantly, it was reported that while movies are usually advertised up to the point of their release date, the interviewees mostly plan their cinema visits in the spur of a moment. Therefore, it is essential for movies to still be at the forefront of consumers' minds while they are in the theatres to attract visitors (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). Instead, cinema theatres are currently betting on the fact that prospecting visitors will stumble upon a movie while checking what they would like to see in the theatres. This suggests both that marketing strategies should be extended until after the release date of a movie, and that cinema theatres should provide the public with an attractive experience pushing people to come back (Weinberg et. al., 2020). In this prospect, it is essential for the theatrical industry to properly determine which movies to enhanced technologically to improve the experience of the consumers, as not all genres are fitted for 3D and 4D distributions. This is a process that the production sector can help with as targeting a movie for enhanced technologies usually leads to a better quality of the consumer's experience (Film Research Netherlands, 2019). The partnership between production and theatrical sector may prove to be fruitful for the box office. However, to maximise said box office revenues, it is essential to distribute a broad range of movies to consumers, to ensure that every visitor finds something pleasing to their personal movie taste (Film Research Netherlands, 2019).

To conclude, it is safe to say that a strong relationship has been established in this research between film production culture and the motivation of consumers for attending movies in the cinema. Indeed, altering the production culture, especially within the three most reflected dimensions (history and culture of films; cinema landscape; production and distribution landscape) in the consumer's motivations for going to the movies is a sure way for the film industry to remain competitive and relevant in the entertainment sector.

Overall, this research reported that there is still added value for going the cinema and it will remain that way if the theatrical industries adopts the right transformations in their production culture.

#### 5.3 Limitations

Naturally, this research is not without its limitations and drawbacks, which are important to note as they influence the research process and hence the final results and conclusions. As mentioned in other chapters, the main setback for this research was the COVID-19 crisis. First, interviews had to take place through conference calls instead of faceto-face, which might have impacted the relationship between the researcher and the participants and altered the depth of the data gathered. More significantly, expert interviews had to be abandoned entirely depriving this research of what might have been valuable insights going beyond the document analysis' data. Furthermore, with the impossibility to sample as originally planned, a call for participants had to be placed on social media platforms. Naturally, due to the personal network of the researcher, the participants found were all in their twenties, which may influence the result of the research. Indeed, as expressed earlier characteristics such as age can influence movie genre preferences as well as motivation factors for going to the movies. Furthermore, it may be assumed that people in their twenties are rather tech-savvy. Therefore, their relationship with the technologically enhanced experience of movies might differ from the one of the older and younger generation. In other words, it might be interesting to consider how the tech-savviness of a generation might influence their motivations for going to the cinema theatres and watching the film in their preferred viewing format.

Finally, the last limitation that was faced during this master thesis is the lack of information available in English about in-depth strategies, visions, and overall data on the Dutch cinema and theatrical industries. The researcher being of foreign nationality, her lack of knowledge of the Dutch language limited the range of documents that could be accessed. Only two short documents were considered in Dutch, which were necessary to cover the second dimension (Regulations/Government policies). Although these two small articles could be understood by the researcher, covering longer, extended, and technical sources would have been a true challenge and might have imperilled the research itself through incorrect translations or misunderstanding of certain variables. It may be assumed that considering Dutch sources might have yielded more in-depth data.

#### 5.4 Future research

Beyond expert interviews, various age groups among the participants and documents in the Dutch language, it might be interesting to consider for future research, further suggestions. For instance, one might be interested in comparing the data from The Netherlands to another country. Indeed, each country possesses its own cinema industry, and although some trends might be international, others might differ depending on the national culture of a country or any of the other 4 different dimensions of production culture. Therefore, it might be interesting to see how various countries differ in terms of their production culture and how this influences the motivations of consumers for going to the cinema theatres.

Another point of interest for future studies lies in the COVID-19 crisis: considering the long-time implications of the crisis on the cinema industry as a whole. Indeed, this research while not focusing on the crisis has already highlighted the fact that not only were all matters of production, film sets and distribution through traditional cinema theatres and film festivals entirely stopped on a global scale due to the virus, but the VOD industry, on the other hand, has highly beneficiated from the quarantine situation. Interviewees revealed that by staying at home they have been consuming more movies than usual and have reported noticing an improvement of the quality of movies provided on their favourite VOD platforms. In other words, while the traditional cinema industry came to a stop during the Corona virus crisis, the VOD industry was boosted forward. It may be compelling to study how the results from this pre-COVID-19 research might be altered post-COVID-19 and how the traditional cinema industry will recover from the whole situation.

## 6. References:

- Akinola, B. (2019). Localising the creative industries concept: identifying the characteristics of the Nigerian creative industries. *International journal of advanced academic research*, *5*(8), 1-16.
- Akkerman, S., Admiraal, W., Brekelmans, M., & Oost, H. (2008). Auditing quality of research in social sciences. *Quality & quantity, 42*(2), 257-274.

  DOI: 10.1007/s11135-006-9044-4
- Austin, B. A. (1985). *Motivations for movie attendance*. Paper presented at The Eastern communication association annual conference, Providence, Rhode Island. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED255977.pdf
- Baily, J. (2004). Music censorship in Afghanistan before and after the Talibam. In Korpe, M. (Eds.), Shoot the singer! Music censorship today, volume 1 (pp. 19-28). London: Zed Books
- Basuroy, S., Chatterjee, S., & Ravid, A. (2003). How critical are critical reviews? The box office effects of film critics, star power, and budgets. *Journal of marketing*, *67*(4), 103-117. DOI: 10.1509/jmkg.67.4.103.18692
- Behlil, M. (2010). Close encounters?: contemporary Turkish television and cinema. *Wide screen, 2*(2), 1-14.
- Behrends, M., & Fischl, B. (2005). *Video on demand Business plan* (Master thesis, Berlin school of economics). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.fib-seminare.de/pdf/">https://www.fib-seminare.de/pdf/</a>
  businessplan vod eng 05 2005.pdf
- Belson, W. A. (1958). The effect of television on cinema going. *Audio visual communication* review, 6(2), 131-139. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02766935
- Bergfelder, T. (2005). National, transnational or supranational cinema? Rethinking European film studies. *Media, culture & society, 27*(3), 315-331, DOI: 10.1177/0163443705051746
- Boeije, H. (2010). Analysis in qualitative research. London: Sage
- Bounie, D., Bourreau, M., & Waelbroeck, P. (2006). Piracy and the demand for films: analysis of piracy behavior in French universities. *Review of economic research on copyright issues*, *3*(2), 15-27. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.936049">https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.936049</a>

- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. *Qualitative* research journal, 9(2), 27-40. DOI: 10.3316/QRJ0902027
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research* in psychology, 3(2), 77-101. DOI: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Brennan, M. J., & Tamarowski, C. (2000). Investor relations, liquidity, and stock prices. *Journal of applied corporate finance, 12*(4), 26-37. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6622.2000.tb00017.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6622.2000.tb00017.x</a>
- Brennen, B. S. (2017). *Qualitative research methods for media studies,* Second Edition. New York: Routledge
- Brooks, R. (2019, July 04). The Netflix guide to world domination: 5 location strategies to steal [Blog post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://k-international.com/blog/netflix-localisation-strategies/">https://k-international.com/blog/netflix-localisation-strategies/</a>
- Brounéus, K. (2011). In-depth interviewing: the process, skill and ethics of interviews in peace research. In Höglund, K., & Öberg, M. (Eds.), *Understanding peace research: methods and challenges* (pp. 132-145). Abingdon: Routledge
- Brown, A. (2010). Qualitative method and compromise in applied social research. *Qualitative research, 10*(2), 229-248. DOI: 10.1177/1468794109356743
- Brozgal, L. (2019). Seeing through race in contemporary French cinema. *L'esprit créateur,* 59(2), 12-24. https://doi.org/10.1353/esp.2019.0013
- Burgess, M., & Evans, L. (2005). Parallel importation and service quality: An empirical investigation of competition between DVDs and cinemas in New Zealand. *Journal of competition law and economics*, 1(4), 747-770. DOI: 10.1093/joclec/nhi022
- Buskirk, M. (1992). Commodification as censor: copyrights and fair use. *The MIT press, 60,* 82-109. DOI: 10.2307/779036
- Byers, S. Cranor, L., Kormann, D, McDanial, P., & Cronin, E. (2003). Analysis of security vulnerabilities in the movie production and distribution process. *DRM'03:*proceedings of the 3<sup>rd</sup> ACM workshop on digital rights management, 1-12.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1145/947380.947383">https://doi.org/10.1145/947380.947383</a>
- Caldwell, J. T. (2005). Welcome to the virtual future of cinema (television). *Cinema journal,* 45(1), 90-97. DOI: 10.1353/cj.2006.0001
- Caldwell, J. (2008). *Production culture: industrial reflexivity and critical practice in film and television*. Duke: Duke University Press.

- Castoriadis, C. (1997). The imaginary institution of society. Cambridge: Polity press.
- Chalaby, J. K. (2012). At the origin of a global industry: the TV formats trade as an Anglo-American invention. *Media, culture and society, 34*(1), *36-52*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443711427198
- Clarke, V. & Braun, V. (2014). Thematic analysis. In A. C. Michalos (Ed.), *Encyclopaedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research* (pp. 6626-6628). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Coates, J. (2018). Alternative viewership practices in Kyoto, Japan. In Magnan-Park, A. H. J., Marchetti, G., & Tan, S. K. (Eds.), *The Palgrave handbook of Asian Cinema* (pp. 221-241). London: Palgrave Macmillan
- Coles, A. (2010). Unintended consequences: examining the impact of tax credit programmes on work in the Canadian independent film and television production sector. *Cultural Trends*, *19*, 109-124. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09548961003696120">https://doi.org/10.1080/09548961003696120</a>
- Daidj, N., & Vialle, P. (2007). Entry strategies in the video on demand market. Frrench

  market perspectives (Research report). Retrieved from GET/ Institut national des

  télécommunications: <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228448673">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228448673</a>

  Entry strategies in the Video on Demand market French market perspectives
- Danaher, B., & Waldfogel, J. (2012). Reel piracy: the effet of online film piracy on international box office sales. *SSRN- work in progress*.

  <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1986299">http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1986299</a>
- De Best, R. (2019, Feb 7). Most popular movies in cinema in the Netherlands in 2018, by number of visitors. [Website]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.statista.com/statistics/554659/leading-movies-according-to-number-of-admissions-in-the-netherlands/">https://www.statista.com/statistics/554659/leading-movies-according-to-number-of-admissions-in-the-netherlands/</a>
- De Lille, D. (2019, Oct 29). *Distribution and marketing of film*, Guest lecture in Erasmus University Rotterdam.
- Derin, S. (2010). No money, no movie. *Studies in European cinema, 7*(1), 25-29. DOI: 10.1386/seci.7.1.25 1
- Desai, M. A., Loeb, G.J., & Veblen, M. (2002). The strategy and sources of motion picture finance. *Harvard business school background note (November edition)*, 203-007. DOI: 10.1225/203007
- Desai, K. K., & Basuroy, S. (2005). Interactive influence of genre familiarity, star power, and critics' reviews in the cultural goods industry: The case of motion pictures.

  \*Psychology & marketing, 22(3), 203-223. DOI: 10.1002/mar.20055

- De Vany, A., & Walls, W. D. (1999). Uncertainty in the movie industry: Does star power reduce the terror of the box office?. *Journal of economics, 23,* 285-318. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007608125988
- Dhar, T., Sun, G., & Weinberg, C. B., (2012). The long-term box office performance of sequel movies. *Mark Lett*, *23*, 13-29. DOI: 10.1007/s11002-011-9146-1
- Dias, M. & Navarro, R. (2018). Is Netflix dominating Brazil?. *International journal of business* and management review, 6(1), 19-32.
- Diawara, M. (1992). African cinema: politics & culture. Indiana: University press.
- Dibbets, K., & van Oort, T. (2009). American movies reach The Netherlands. In

  Krabbendam, H. (Eds.), Four centuries of Dutch-American relations, 1609-2009 (pp. 479-485). New York: Suny press
- Dogruel, L. (2014). What is so special about innovations? A characterization of the field. *The journal of media innovations, 1*(1), 52-69. DOI: 10.5617/jmi.v1i1.665
- Domingo, R. V. (1997). Piracy and its effect on the film industry. World bull, 13(137).
- Dreier, T. (2019). Netflix's movie library is kind of terrible but does it matter?. *Sreaming media magazine*, 4, Retrieved from <a href="https://search-proquest-com.eur.idm.oclc.org/docview/2187130574?accountid=1398">https://search-proquest-com.eur.idm.oclc.org/docview/2187130574?accountid=1398</a>
- Ebbers, J.J., & Wijnberg, N.M. (2009). Latent organizations in the film industry: contracts, rewards and resources. *Human relations*, *62*(7), 987-1009. DOI: 10.1177/0018726709335544
- Edensor, T. (2002) National identity, popular culture and everyday life. Oxford: Berg.
- Efrat, N., Didyk, P., Foshey, M., Matusik, W., & Levin, A. (2016). Cinema 3D: large scale automultiscopic display. *ACM trans graph*, *35*(4), 590-602. http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2897824.2925921
- Englander, D. (2012). Popcorn and property. Barron's, 92(33), 26-27.
- Elberse, A. (2007). The power of stars: do star actors drive the success of movies?. *Journal of marketing*, 71(4), 102-120. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.71.4.102">https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.71.4.102</a>
- Elberse, A. (2013). *Blockbusters: Hit-making, risk-taking, and the big business of entertainment*. New York: Scribe Publications.
- Ellis, D., & Conaway, B. (2015). Do MPAA ratings affect box office revenues?. *Academy of business research journal*, 1, 64-88.

- Elsaesser, T. (2013). The "return" of 3-D: on some of the logics and genealogies of the image in the twenty first century. *Critical inquiry, 39*(2), 217-246. DOI: 10.1086/668523
- Evans, H. (2019, August 27). The 25 most expensive films ever made. *Showbiz CheatSheet*[Website] Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cheatsheet.com/entertainment/25-expensive">https://www.cheatsheet.com/entertainment/25-expensive</a>

  -films-ever-made.html/
- Fasta, F., & Arsi, C. (2015). Western heroism as culture ideology in the avengers. *The Indonesian journal of communication studies, 8*(1), 60-73.
- Flick, U. (2011). Sampling, selecting and access. In Flick, U. (Eds.), *Designing qualitative* research (pp. 25-35). London: Sage
- Fröber, K., & Thomaschke, R. (2019). In the dark cube: Movie theater context enhances the valuation and aesthetic experience of watching films. *Psychology of Aesthetics,*Creativity, and the Arts, 10. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/aca0000295">https://doi.org/10.1037/aca0000295</a>
- Fu, W. (2012). Movie genre preferences and the national identity. Paper presented at Communiquer dans un monde de norms. L'information et la communication dans les enjeux contemporain de la "mondialisation", France Retrieved from <a href="http://hal.uni-lille3.fr/hal-00840689">http://hal.uni-lille3.fr/hal-00840689</a>
- Garcia-del-Barrio, P., & Zarco, H. (2017). Do movie contents influence box-office revenues?. *Applied economics, 49*(17), 1679-1688. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2016.12">http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2016.12</a>

  23828
- Gerace, T. A., & Smith, J. C. (1985). Children's type a interview: interrater, test-retest reliability, and interviewer effect. *Journal of chronic diseases*, *38*(9), 781-791. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9681(85)90121-3">https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9681(85)90121-3</a>
- Goldsmith, B., & O'Regan, T. (2005). The film studio: film production in global economy.

  Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield publishers INC.
- Gong, J. J., van der Stede, W. A., & Young, S. M., (2011). Real options in the motion picture industry: Evidence from film marketing and sequels. *Contemporary accounting research*, *28*(5), 1438-1466. DOI: 10.1111/j.1911-3846.2011.01086.x
- Gravetter, F. J., & Forzano, L.-A. B. (2017). *Research methods for the behavioral sciences*. Sixth edition, Boston: Cengage.
- Haase, D. (2015). Adapting to the big screen: A study of themes in consumer reviews of movie adaptations of young adult books (Master thesis, Lynchburg college). Retrieved from <a href="https://digitalshowcase.lynchburg.edu/studentshowcase/2016/Presentations/38/">https://digitalshowcase.lynchburg.edu/studentshowcase/2016/Presentations/38/</a>

- Henkel, L., James, M., & Croce, N. (2015). Would you like some popcorn with that download?

  A uses and gratifications study into the motivations of legal and illegal film consumption. *Quarterly review of film and video, 33*(1), 46-63. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1">http://dx.doi.org/10.1</a>
  080/10509208.2015.1086256
- Hennig-Thurau, T., Henning, V., Sattler, H., Eggers, F., Houston, M. B. (2007). The last picture show? Timing and order of movie distribution channels. *Journal of marketing*, *71*(4), 63-83. DOI: 10.1509/jmkg.71.4.63
- Herzog, C., Handke, C., & Hitters, E. (2019). Analyzing talk and text II: thematic analysis. In Vand den Bulk, H, Puppis, M., Donders, K., Van Audenhove, L. (Eds.), *The palgrave handbook of methods for media policy research* (pp. 385-401). Cham: Pelgrave Macmillan
- Hift, F. (1994). Monster movies. Europe; Washington, 340, 26-28.
- Hilderbrand, L. (2010). The art of distribution: video on demand. *Film quarterly, 64*(2), 24-28. DOI: 10.1525/fq.2010.64.2.24
- Hill, C. W. L. (2007). Digital piracy: causes, consequences, and strategic responses. *Asia Pacific journal of management, 24,* 9-25. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-006-90">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-006-90</a>
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-006-90">25-0</a>
- Hoberman, J. (2019). Triumph of the will. Film comment, 55(1), 54-57.
- Honthaner, E. E., (2010). Chapter 3: basic accounting. In Elsevier INC, *The complete film production handbook* (pp. 33-78). Oxford: Focal press
- Hubbard, P. (2003). A good night out? Multiplex cinemas as sites of embodied leisure. *Leisure Studies*, 22(3), 255-272. DOI: 10.1080/026143603200075461
- Hughes-Warrington, M. (2006). *History goes to the movies, studying history on film.* London: Routledge.
- Ilbnal Asad, K., Ahmed, T., & Rahman, S. (2012). *Movie popularity classification on inherent movie attributes using C4.5, PART and correlation coefficient*. Paper presented at the International conference on informatics, electronics & vision, Dhaka Bangladesh. Retrieved from <a href="https://arxiv.org/pdf/1209.6070.pdf">https://arxiv.org/pdf/1209.6070.pdf</a>
- Janak, P. (2011). Classification of causes and effects of uploading and downloading of pirated film products. *World academy of science, engineering and technology, 60,* 883-887. doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1329384

- Jess. (2018, October 10). The history of Dutch Cinema [Blog post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.superprof.us/blog/history-dutch-cinema/">https://www.superprof.us/blog/history-dutch-cinema/</a>
- Jewell, B., & McKinnon,S. (2010). Movie tourism a new form of cultural landscape?.

  Journal of travel & tourism marketing, 2(3), 153-162.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10548400802092650">https://doi.org/10.1080/10548400802092650</a>
- Joshi, A. M., & Hanssens, D. M. (2009). Movie advertising and the stock market valuation of studios: a case of "great expectation?". *Marketing science*, *28*(2), 239-250. https://doi.org/10.1287/mksc.1080.0392
- Kannisto, K. (2019). *The motivations for Netflix to vertically integrate its business model*(Bachelor thesis, Aalto university). Retrieved from <a href="https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/7f60/f23c9e7a448cbdfd442b05550877a12c8180.pdf">https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/7f60/f23c9e7a448cbdfd442b05550877a12c8180.pdf</a>
- Kelman, K. (2003). Propaganda as vision: Triumph of the Will. Logos, 2(4).
- Kerrigan, F. (2017). Movies. *Consumption markets & culture, 21*(5), 503-509. https://doi.org/10.1080/10253866.2017.1306207
- Kumb, F., Kunz, R., & Siegert, G. (2017). Research on the motion picture industry: State of the art and new directions off the beaten track away from theatrical release.

  Journal of Economic Surveys, 31(2), 577–601. https://doi.org/10.1111/joes.12145
- Küng, L. (2017a). Strategic management in the media theory to practice. London: Sage.
- Küng, L. (2017b). Reflection on the ascendancy of technology in the media and its implications for organisations and their leaders. *Journal of media innovations*, *4*(1), 77-81. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5617/jmi.v4i1.3171">https://doi.org/10.5617/jmi.v4i1.3171</a>
- Kvale, S. (1996). *InterViews: an introduction to qualitative research interviewing*. CA: Sage
- Lampel, J. (2011). Institutional dynamics of project-based creative organizations: Irving

  Thalberg and the Hollywood studio system. *Advances in strategic management, 28,*445-466. DOI: 10.1108/S0742-3322(2011)0000028020
- Leuthold, S. M. (1995). Native American Responses to the Western. *American Indian culture* and research journal, 19(1), 153-189. <a href="https://doi.org/10.17953/aicr.19.1.a75782278">https://doi.org/10.17953/aicr.19.1.a75782278</a>
  <a href="mailto:5780512">5780512</a>
- Levin, A. M., Conway Dato-on, M., & Manolis, C. (2007). Deterring illegal downloading: the effect of threats appeals, past behavior, subjective norms, and attributions of harm. *Journal of consumer behavior*, *6*, 111-122. DOI: 10.1002/cb.211

- Liu, X., & Yao, C. (2019). *Media transformation and film literature adaptation, Taking the*novel and movie "Lust, Caution" as an example. Paper presented in the 4<sup>th</sup>

  International conference on contemporary education, social sciences, and
  humanities (ICCESSH 2019), Moscow, Russia. DOI: 10.2991/iccessh-19.2019.254
- Lobato, R. (2012). *Shadow economies of cinema: Mapping informal film distribution*. Bloomsbury: British film institute Publishing.
- Loy, P. R. (2001). *Western and American culture, 1930-1955*. Jefferson: McFaland & Company Inc publishers.
- Martinez, M. J. (1998). Some like it hot: the blurring of gender limits in a film of the fifties.

  \*Bells: Barcelona English language and literature studies, 9, 143-152.
- Mayer, V., Banks, M. J., Caldwell, J. T. (2009). *Production studies cultural studies of media industries*. New York: Routledge
- Mazdon, L. (1999). Cinema and television: from enmity to interdependence. In Scriven, M., & Lecomte, M. (Eds.), *Television broadcasting in contemporary France and Britain* (pp. 71-82). New York: Berghahn books
- Mazdon, L. (2007). Transnational 'French' cinema: the Cannes film festival. *Modern & contemporary France, 15*(1), 9-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639480601115250
- McGowan, D. (2018). Walt Disney treasures or Mickey Mouse DVDs? Animatophilia, nostalgia, and the competing representations of theatrical cartoon shorts on home video. *Animation: an interdisciplinary journal, 13*(1), 53-68.

  DOI: 10.1177/1746847752585
- McKenzie, J. (2016). Graduated response policies to digital piracy: do they increase box office revenues of movies?. *Information economics and policy, 38,* 1-11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.infoecopol.2016.12.004
- McKenzie, J., & Walls, W. D. (2013). *File-sharing and fil revenues: an empirical analysis*[working paper]. University of Sydney, Retrieved from:

  http://econ-wpseries.com/2013/201314.pdf
- Mikos, L. (2016). Digital media platforms and the use of tv content: Binge watching and video-on-demand in Germany. *Media and communication, 4*(3), 154-161.

  DOI: 10.17645/mac.v4i3.542
- Miyao, D. (2002). Before anime: Animation and the pure film movement in pre-war Japan. *Japan forum, 14*(2), 191-209. DOI: 10.1080/09555800220136356

- Murray, A. (1970). *The omni-Americans: some alternatives to the folklore of white supremacy.* New York: Library of America.
- Murphy, D. (2019, March 22). Netflix vs Hollywood: when an unstoppable force meets an immovable object [Blog post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://entsight.com/blog/netflix-vs-hollywood-when-an-unstoppable-force-meets-an-immovable-object">https://entsight.com/blog/netflix-vs-hollywood-when-an-unstoppable-force-meets-an-immovable-object</a>
- Murschetz, P. C., Teichmann, R., & Karmasin, M. (2018). *Handbook of state aid for film. Finance, Industries and Regulation*. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Nam, S. H., Chang, B. H., & Park, J. Y. (2015). The potential effect of VOD on the sequential process of theatrical movies. *International journal of arts management,* 17(2), 19-32.
- Naremore, J. (1999). Authorship. In Miller, T., & Stam, R. (Eds.), *A companion to film theory* (pp. 202-220). Malden: Blackwell publishing
- Nelson, R. A., & Rutherford, P. (2010). The impact of early DVD release on box office revenues. *Applied economics letters, 17*(7), 689-693.

  DOI: 10.1080/13504850802297913
- Newman-Baudais, S. (2011). *Public funding for film and audiovisual works in Europe*[Report]. Retrieved from European Audiovisual Observatory website:

  <a href="https://rm.coe.int/public-funding-report-2011-en-optim-pdf/16808e46dc">https://rm.coe.int/public-funding-report-2011-en-optim-pdf/16808e46dc</a>
- Nowell-Smith, G. (1996). *The Oxford history of world cinema,* Oxford: Oxford University press
- Olchawska, M. (2017, Feb 16). Comprehensive list of the most important film funding organisations [Blog post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://magdaolchawska.com/film-funding-organisations/">https://magdaolchawska.com/film-funding-organisations/</a>
- Padro, A. (2013). Digital Hollywood: How internet and social media are changing the movie business. In M. Friedrichsen & W. Mülh-Benninghaus (Eds.), *Handbook of social media management: Value chain and business models in changing media markets* (pp. 329-348). Heidelberg: Springer
- Paris, T. (2015). New approaches for greater diversity of cinema in Europe? Analyses of experiments launched in the context of the preparatory action "Circulation of European films in the digital era" [Technical report]. Retrieved from European Commission, MEDIA programme. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.3710.0006

- Parkes, M. (2012). Making plans for Nigel: the industry Trust and film piracy management in the United Kingdom. *The international journal of research into media technologies,* 19(1), 25-43. DOI: 10.1177/1354856512462674
- Pillania, R. K. (2008). The globalization of Indian Hindi movie industry. *Management, 3*(2), 115-123.
- PWC. (2019). Cinema [website]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.pwc.nl/en/industries/entertainment-media/entertainment-and-media-outlook-for-the-netherlands/cinema.html">https://www.pwc.nl/en/industries/entertainment-media/entertainment-and-media-outlook-for-the-netherlands/cinema.html</a>
- Rajadhyaksha, A. (2003). The 'Bollywoodizatoin' of the Indian cinema: cultural nationalism in a global arena. *Inter-Asia cultural studies, 4*(1), 25-39.

  DOI: 10.1080/1464937032000060195
- Ravid, A. S. (1999). Information, blockbusters, and stars: A study of the film industry. *The journal of business*, 72(4), 463-492. DOI: 10.1086/209624
- Re, V. (2015). Online film circulation, copyright enforcement and the access to culture: the Italian case. *Journal of Italian cinema & media studies, 3*(3), 251-269. https://doi.org/10.1386/jicms.3.3.251 1
- Redfern, N. (2012). Correspondence analysis of genre preferences in the UK film audiences. *Journal of audience & reception studies, 9*(2), 45-55.
- Regev, R. (2016). Hollywood works: how creativity became labor in the studio system. *Enterprise & Society, 17*(3), 591-617. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/eso.2015.89">https://doi.org/10.1017/eso.2015.89</a>
- Remneland Wikhamn, B., & Knights, D. (2016). Associations for disruptivness the Pirate Bay vs. Spotify. *Journal of technology management & innovation, 11*(3), 40-49. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-27242016000300005
- Roulston, K., de Marrais, K., & Lewis, J. B. (2003). Learning to interview in the social sciences. *Qualitative inquiry, 9,* 643-668. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800403252736
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management research review, 35*(3/4), 260-271. https://doi.org/10.1108/014091711211210154
- Roxborough, S. (2019). Why Disney + quietly launched in the Netherlands

  first. *The Hollywood reporter*. Retrieved from

  <a href="https://www.hollywoodreporter.com/news/why-disney-quietly-launched-netherlands-first-1243068">https://www.hollywoodreporter.com/news/why-disney-quietly-launched-netherlands-first-1243068</a>

- Rubin, A. (1981). An examination of television viewing motivations. *Communication research*, 8(2), 141-165. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/00936502810080021">https://doi.org/10.1177/00936502810080021</a>
- Rubin, R. (2019, August 27). Netflix announces release plans for 'The King', 'Marriage Story' and 'The laundromat', *Variety*, Retrieved from <a href="https://variety.com/2019/film/">https://variety.com/2019/film/</a>
  <a href="mailto:news/netflix-release-schedule-the-king-marriage-story-the-irishman-1203315315/">https://wariety.com/2019/film/</a>
- Salhi, K. (2008). Visualising postcolonial cultural politics in Algeria: from state cinema to cinema d'auteur. *The journal of north African studies, 13*(4), 441- 454. https://doi.org/10.1080/13629380802343525
- Savage, J. (2014). *The effect of video on demand services on the cinema industry* (master thesis, Letterkenny institute of technology). Retrieved from <a href="https://research.thea.">https://research.thea.</a> ie/bitstream/handle/20.500.12065/1168/MARK SavageJ.pdf?sequence=2
- Schäler, R. (2003). *Making a business case for localisation*. Paper presented at ASLIB translation and computer 25 conference, London, UK.
- Schatz, T. (2004). *Hollywood/vol1, historical dimensions: the development of the American film industry,* London: Routledge.
- Schroy, C., Plante, C. N., Reysen, S., Roberts, S. E., & Gerbasi, K. C. (2016). Different motivations as predicators of psychological connection to fan interest and fan groups in anime, furry and fantasy sport fandoms. *The Phoenix papers*, *2*(2), 148-167.
- Sisto, A., & Zanola, R. (2007). Cinema and TV: and empirical investigation of Italian consumers. In Bianchi, M. (Eds.), *The evolution of consumption: theories and practices* (pp. 139-154). Bingley: Emerald group
- Skinner, J. (1955). Censorship films and dreams. *American Imago, 12*(3), 223-240.
- Smart Pricer. (2018). 3 insights that cinema can learn from subscription models. *Smart Pricer*, Retrieved from <a href="https://www.smart-pricer.com/3-ways-how-cinemas-can-react-to-moviepass-and-other-3rd-party-subscription-models/">https://www.smart-pricer.com/3-ways-how-cinemas-can-react-to-moviepass-and-other-3rd-party-subscription-models/</a>
- Smith, M. D., Telang, R., & Zhang, Y. (2019). I want you back: the interplay between legal availability and movie piracy. *International journal of the economics of business,* 26(1), 199-216. DOI: 10.1080/13571516.2019.1553293
- Spigel, L. (1992). *Make room for TV: television and the family ideal in postwar America.*Chicago: University press.
- Statista research department (2019). Film industry in Japan statistics & facts [Website].

  Retrieved from https://www.statista.com/topics/5004/film-industry-in-japan/

- Stets, J. E., & Burke, P. J. (2000). Identity theory and social identity theory. *Social psychological quarterly, 63*(3), 224-237. DOI; 10.2307/2695870
- Sundholm, J., Thorsen, I., Andersson, L. G., Hedling, O., Iversen, G., & Moller, B. T. (2012).

  Historical dictionary of Scandinavian cinema. Lanham: Scarecrow press
- Svensson, M., & Larsson, S. (2012). Intellectual property law compliance in Europe: illegal file sharing and the roles of social norms. *New media & society, 14*(7), 147-163. DOI: 10.1177/1461444812439553
- Szczepanik, P., & Vonderau, P. (2013). *Behind the screen: inside European production cultures*. Palgrave US: Springer.
- Thomas, J. B. (2012). *Drawing on tradition: Manga, anime, and religion in contemporary Japan,* Hawaii: University press.
- Thrasher, J. F., Sargent, J. D., Vargas, R., Braun, S., Barrientos-Gutierrez, T., Sevigny, E. L., Billings, D. L., Arillo-Santillán, E., Navarro, A., & Hardin, J. (2014). Are movies with tabacco, alcohol, drugs, sex, and violence rated for youth? A comparison of rating systems in Argentina, Brazil, Mexico, and the United States. *International journal of drug policy*, 25(2), 267-275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2013.09.004
- Twenge, J. M., Martin, G. N., & Spitzberg, B.H. (2019). Trends in US adolescents' media use, 1976-2016: the rise of digital media, the decline of TV, and the (near) demise of print. *Psychology of popular media culture, 8*(4), 329-345. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/ppm0000203">https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/ppm0000203</a>
- Government of The Netherlands. (2018). Government shows commitment to culture with major funding drive [Government website, news feed], Retrieved from <a href="https://www.government.nl/latest/news/2018/03/12/government-shows-commitment-to-culture-with-major-funding-drive">https://www.government.nl/latest/news/2018/03/12/government-shows-commitment-to-culture-with-major-funding-drive</a>
- Vitaly, P. (2017). The sound of cinema: technology and creativity. Mediamuzyka, 8.
- Vlahos, P., & Holm, W. (1973). Image modification of motion pictures. *US patent No. 3772456.* Holm, Santa Monica, United States patent.
- Waterman, D., Ji, S. W., & Rochet, L. (2007). Enforcement and control of piracy, copying and sharing in the movie industry. *Review of industrial organization, 30,* 255-289. DOI: 10.1007/s11151-007-9136-x

- Wayne, M. L. (2018). Netflix, Amazon, and branded television content in subscription video on demand portals. *Media, culture & society, 40*(5), 725-741. DOI: 10.1177/0163443717736118
- Weinberg, C. B., Otten, C., Orbach, B., McKenzie, J., Gil, R., Chisholm, D. C., & Basuroy, S. (2020). Technological change and managerial challenges in the movie theater industry. *Journal of cultural economics*, 1(1), 1-24. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10824-019-09374-z">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10824-019-09374-z</a>
- Welter, B. S. (2012). *The Netflix effect: product availability and piracy in the film industry*(Master's thesis, Florida State university). Retrieved from:

  <a href="https://getd.libs.uga.edu/pdfs/welter-brennan\_s\_201212\_ma.pdf">https://getd.libs.uga.edu/pdfs/welter\_brennan\_s\_201212\_ma.pdf</a>
- Yang, J., Anderson, E., & Gordon, B. R. (2019). Digitization, product variety and concentration: evidence from the South Korean movie market. *SSRN*, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3185847">http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3185847</a>
- Yar, M. (2005). The global 'epidemic' of movie 'piracy': crime-wave or social construction?.

  Media culture & society, 27(5), 677-696. DOI: 10.1177/0163443705055723
- Yoo, C., & Poe, B. (2016). The holdback policy as a counter-attack method against piracy.

  Asian journal of innovation and policy, 5(1), 78-91.

  <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.7545/ajp.2016.1.078">https://dx.doi.org/10.7545/ajp.2016.1.078</a>
- Young, S. M., Gong, J., & van der Stede, W. (2010). The business of making money with movies. *Strategic Finance*, *91*(8), 35-40.
- Zhang, D. (2015). *Illegal file sharing & the film industry* (Dissertation). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.econ.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/Illegal%20File%20Sharing%20">https://www.econ.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/Illegal%20File%20Sharing%20</a> %26%20The%20Film%20Industry.pdf
- Zhu, K. (2001). Internet-based distribution of digital videos: the economic impacts of digitization on the motion picture industry. *Electronic markets*, 11(4), 273-280. DOI: 10.1080/101967801753405562

# References document analysis:

### Document 1:

NL Film Fonds (2019), *Film facts & figures of The Netherlands*, Retrieved from <a href="https://www.filmfonds.nl/page/7363/film-facts-figures-2019">https://www.filmfonds.nl/page/7363/film-facts-figures-2019</a>

## **Document 2:**

Film Research Netherlands (2019), New cinema conference on the future of cinema,

Retrieved from https://filmonderzoek.nl/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/New
Cinema-Conference-Report-©-Film-Research-Netherlands.pdf

## Document 3:

PWC (2018), Cinema what's new?, Retrieved from

https://www.pwc.nl/en/industries/entertainment-media/entertainment-and-mediaoutlook-for-the-netherlands/cinema.html

### Document 4:

NL Film Fonds (2020). Film incentive [website]. Retrieved from https://www.filmfonds.nl/film-producties/film-production-incentive

## **Document 5:**

NL Film Fonds (2019), *Film in de uitgangspunten cultuurbeleid 2021-2024* Retrieved from <a href="https://www.filmfonds.nl/page/7472/film-in-de-uitgangspunten-cultuurbeleid-2021-2024">https://www.filmfonds.nl/page/7472/film-in-de-uitgangspunten-cultuurbeleid-2021-2024</a>

#### Document 6:

Dijksterhuis, E. (2019, June 19). Minister komt tegemoet aan wensen filmmakers. *De film krant*. Retrieved from <a href="https://filmkrant.nl/nieuws/minister-komt-tegemoet-aan-wensen-filmmakers/">https://filmkrant.nl/nieuws/minister-komt-tegemoet-aan-wensen-filmmakers/</a>

# **Appendix A: Consumer interviews**

## Introduction:

Why do you like/watch movies?

What is cinema to you?

Why is it important?

Do you have your own account on a VOD platform? If so which one? Why this one?

How often do you watch movies in general (irrespective of place/platform)?

How often do you go to the theatres?

How often do you watch movies Netflix or use other VOD platforms?

What is your favourite genre of movies?

Which cinema theatre do you go to most often? Why this one?

How diverse is the range of movies proposed in The Netherlands? How do you like it?

What is a Dutch movie in your opinion? What distinguishes it from other types of movies?

In your opinion what is the Dutch culture?

How is the Dutch culture reflected in Dutch movies?

How often do you watch domestic movies?

What do you think of domestic movies?

What do you think of Hollywood movies?

## **Transforming production culture:**

Do you watch TV?

Do you download movies?

How often do you see a movie in special conditions such as Imax, 3D, 4D, Screen X, etc?

How has your relationship with movies evolved in your life?

How has Netflix or other VOD platforms change the way you consume movies?

What do you think of the rating system in the Netherlands?

What hold does the Dutch government have on the cinema industry in your opinion?

## Motivations for consuming movies:

How important are famous names attached to the production of the movie in your decision making?

How do you pick a movie in the theatres?

How do you choose a movie on a VOD platform?

How is this process different from choosing a movie in the theatres?

Why do you go to the theatres? (attraction to technology, being out, service level, quality of viewing conditions, etc)

Why do you still go to the cinema theatres when you have access to all these new means of watching movies?

How do you view the quality, quantity, and relevance of Netflix movies over the ones in the theatres?

How important is it for you to see the Netherlands featured in a movie? How do you feel when it is?

What is it that you like about Dutch movies? (language, references to your own country, habits, culture, etc)

What do you think of the quality of domestic movies? How about their number and accuracy?

What would make you choose a Dutch movie over another one?

# **Appendix B: Expert interviews**

### Introduction:

What is your function in the cinema landscape?

Why is cinema important? What does it represent to you?

How would you describe the Dutch audience? What are their expectations and demands?

How does one attract a Dutch audience?

How are movies perceived overall in The Netherlands? Are they an important form of culture, are they mere entertainment, are they seen as educative?

How are Dutch movies appreciated in The Netherlands?

In your opinion, what is the Dutch culture?

How often do you go to the theatres yourself?

What can you tell me shortly about the Dutch cinema industry's history? What is the importance of this heritage in modern days Dutch cinema? How are history and culture reflected in movies?

How is the Dutch culture incorporated in domestic movies? What elements of the Dutch culture that you previously mentioned are most often found in movies?

What are elements that stand out in Dutch movies? Is there a Dutch style?

How difficult is it to produce a movie in The Netherlands?

What forms of governmental regulations or policies do moviemakers and producers face in The Netherlands? (Is creativity completely free, can you talk about anything you want in a movie? Are there preferred topics to be eligible for governmental grant support?)

What is the preferred way to finance a movie in The Netherlands? Is there a trend? Would you have a preferred technique yourself?

What does the small number of cinema theatre brands (Pathe and Cineville) mean for the theatrical release of movies in The Netherlands?

What is the most challenging for the Dutch cinema industry?

How important are big names attached to a movie for its chances of both it being produced and it being a success?

How often are the modern technologies added in theatres to enhance the movie experience such as 3D, 4D, Imax, Screen X, etc used?

How do you view the future of movie theatres as the primary window for releasing movies? Do you think that it might change in the coming future?

## **Transforming production culture:**

What has changed in the way cinema is done in recent years? How has the digitalisation of movies impacted the movie productions, distribution and consumption?

What is the impact of Netflix on the cinema industry as a whole? On the cinema theatre industry?

How has the rise of popularity of VOD platforms influenced the content of movies itself?

How has the audience changed in light of technologies such as illegal downloading, movies on tv and more recently VOD platforms? How have their demands and expectations evolved?

In your opinion, why should people keep on going to the cinema theatres? In your opinion, will people keep on going to the cinema theatres?

What do you think about the modern technologies that have been added in theatres in recent years such as 3D, 4D, Imax, Screen X, etc?

How do Hollywood movies impact the way domestic movies are made and received in The Netherlands?

How do domestic movies attempt to demark themselves from Hollywood movies?

How can Dutch cinema survive the influence of both VOD platforms and Hollywood?

How have the technological changes influenced the production of movies in The Netherlands?

In your opinion, how do technological innovations influence the way Dutch movies stand out?